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4 Foreword

foreword
This Report is the fifth and final volume in our series planned for advising Parliament on the 
outcome of audits for the 2012-13 financial year and the 2013 calendar year (the 2012-13 audit 
cycle). It deals with two statutory authorities reporting at 30 June 2013 and five State entities which 
reported at 31 December 2013. The most significant entity covered by this volume is the University 
of Tasmania which incurred an Underlying Deficit of $9.070m (2012, $28.406m) before tax and 
non-operating items and a Comprehensive Surplus of $41.391m ($39.422m) for the year ended  
31 December 2013. 

As it relates to the 2012-13 audit cycle, this Report includes:

•	 a summary of common audit findings which noted more than 330 audit findings reported 
to 70 State entities, the most serious of which related to non-current physical assets, 
expenditure and accounts payable, employee expenses, information systems, revenue and 
receivables and cash and financing

•	 a summary outlining the timeliness and quality of financial reporting

•	 brief information about acquittal audits conducted in relation to natural disaster claims

•	 an update on new accounting and auditing standards 

•	 audits dispensed with and how we set audit fees for conducting audits of financial statements.

This Report also includes three matters about which separate comment is warranted:

•	 A trial project my Office has initiated regarding key performance indicators. I note the lack 
of reporting by selected departments of indicators of efficiency and, in trying to promote 
the benefits of reporting such information; I recommend a number of efficiency indicators 
that could be considered for inclusion in annual reports. This trial was initiated following 
three performance audits about key performance indicators which resulted in little action by 
departments as it relates to their efficiency. I plan to build on this work in future reports.

•	 Ministerial Orders issued under the Local Government Act 1993 became effective on  
19 February 2014. These deal with audit panels, strategic planning and reporting indicators 
of financial sustainability. This Chapter was included to outline our approach to these 
initiatives.

•	 An audit of the disposal of firearms or ammunition by Tasmania Police under section 149 
of the Firearms Act 1996. This Act requires me to annually audit this information and to 
report thereon to the Parliament. However, audits have not been conducted since 2009 and, 
while there are records that audits were conducted prior to this, I can find no record of any 
reporting to Parliament as required by this section. For this I apologise to the Parliament and 
to the community. Audits are now up to date with findings noted in this Report.  

H M Blake

Auditor-General

7 May 2014
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6 Key Points

key points

Page

Reporting Key Performance Indicators – Trial Project 14

Tasmania has had an output based budgeting framework since 1997. Despite this there 
is a lack of public reporting of indicators of efficiency. Other jurisdictions are leading 
the way.

The Chapter provides suggestions on indicators of efficiency for selected departments.

This trial is aimed at establishing relevant and appropriate efficiency Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) for reporting by departments.

Recommendation

We recommend that all departments consider the indicators in this Chapter or design 
other suitable indicators of efficiency for inclusion in budget papers and annual reports.

All departments have responded to our recommendation and their individual responses 
are included in the Chapter.

Local Government Ministerial Orders 2014 33

In February 2014, Orders were gazetted requiring local government councils to 
establish audit panels, develop long-term financial and long-term asset management 
strategies, policies and plans and report certain financial sustainability indicators in the 
notes to annual financial statements.

The financial sustainability indicators must be included in the notes to annual financial 
statements at 30 June 2014.

Other than the Asset renewal funding ratio, we will audit reported financial 
sustainability indicators at 30 June 2014.

In the case of the Asset renewal funding ratio, where reported, we will ensure these are 
in line with approved long-term financial and long-term asset management plans but 
we will not form an audit opinion on this ratio.

We anticipate that where a council does not report the Asset renewal funding ratio, 
reasons will be provided along with details as to when compliance will be achieved.

We anticipate that councils will set targets for each financial sustainability indicator 
and explain variations from target.

We anticipate that information about financial sustainability indicators will include 
trend data over more than two financial periods.
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Disposal of Firearms and Ammunition 39

We found the actual processes and control activities leading to the disposal of firearms 
to be appropriate and based on our audit work we concluded the requirements of the 
Firearms Act 1996  in relation to the disposal of firearms were complied with. 

The current practice of recording the quantity of ammunition was inadequate and 
were not able to conclude on compliance with the Firearms Act 1996 in relation to the 
disposal of ammunition.

Recommendations

We made the following recommendations to the Department of Police and Emergency 
Management:

•	 it should review its current processes with the view to implementing a practical 
control over the recording of ammunition, which would address the risk of 
ammunition being inadvertently misplaced or lost through theft or fraud

•	 it should develop formal policies and procedures which would address all 
activities leading to the disposal of firearms and ammunition 

•	 it should ensure that controls around the disposal of firearms and ammunition 
are monitored through a combination of ongoing activities and separate 
evaluations. 

The Department accepted our recommendations and its response is included in the 
Chapter. 

Timeliness and Quality of Financial Statements 42

During the 2012-13 audit cycle, nine State entities failed to meet the statutory deadline 
of submitting their signed annual financial statements for audit within 45 days from the 
end of the financial year. 

One set of financial statements submitted for audit was rejected.

On the whole the quality of financial reports initially submitted was of a high 
standard.

Findings from 2013 Audits 44

In excess of 330 audit matters were raised, with recommendations made to 70 State 
entities during the 2012-13 financial audit cycle.

The majority of matters raised related to non-current physical assets, expenditure and 
accounts payable, employee expenses, information systems, revenue and receivables and 
cash and financing.

The use of residual values for long-lived infrastructure assets in local government 
councils were reviewed by an independent expert and reported in Report of the 
Auditor-General No. 5 2013-14 Infrastructure Financial Accounting in Local Government 
tabled in December 2013. The Report concluded that the manner in which some 
local government councils used residual values did not comply with accounting 
standards. That report made 23 recommendations relating to long-lived infrastructure 
management.
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The use of cloud computing by a State entity appeared to provide efficiencies, 
but there were aspects of the application that were unknown by the entity. We 
recommended completion of full risk assessments prior to implementing this product.

Grant Acquittal Audits 50

The Auditor-General is responsible for audits of numerous grant acquittal financial 
statements. These audits are carried out in addition to audits of the annual financial 
statements of State entities.

An audit of the State claim to the Australian Government under the Natural Disaster 
Relief and Recovery Arrangements for costs incurred relating to the January 2013 
bushfires was completed on 8 April 2014. 

Basis for Setting Fees 51

Fees, and the accountable authority liable to pay the fee for financial audits, are 
determined by the Auditor-General pursuant to section 27 of the Audit Act 2008.

Fees are set for each State entity commensurate with the size, complexity and risks of 
the engagement.

Charge rates are based on the principle of the Office being able to recover its costs of 
operation. Charge rates comprise two parts, direct salary cost and overhead recovery.

Where circumstances surrounding an engagement have materially changed, additional 
audit fees may be sought from that State entity.

A matrix (audit fee scale) has been developed to provide a guide for determining the 
expected time to be taken on an audit. The level of fee, and any change, experienced 
by individual State entities may vary according to individual circumstances and the 
risks each entity faces.

Dispensed with Audits 55

The Auditor-General has the authority to dispense with the audits of State entities, but 
must consult with the Treasurer prior to granting such dispensation.

Audits are dispensed with on the condition that the relevant State entity annually 
demonstrates appropriated financial reporting and the existence of appropriate 
alternative audit arrangements.  

In 2012-13, 36 audits were dispensed.

Accounting and Auditing Standards – Developments in Financial Reporting 58

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement is applicable for financial reporting at 30 June 2014. It 
clarifies valuation techniques to be applied when reporting assets and liabilities at fair 
value and will require additional disclosures.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits is also applicable for financial reporting at 30 June 2014. It 
includes new provisions relating to the valuation of employee leave and defined benefit 
superannuation obligations.
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Entities that have entered into arrangements with subsidiaries or joint entities, or who 
are not sure of whether or not these arrangements apply, need to familiarise themselves 
with AASB 10, 11, 12, 127 and 128.

Standards setters are finalising a new standard dealing with Revenue but consideration 
on a new leasing standard is ongoing. 

Other State Entities – 31 December 2013 62

Anzac Day Trust 63

The Trust had a bank balance of $0.020m at 31 December 2013, which was $0.016m 
higher than last year. This was mainly due to the payment to Legacy Tasmania 
approved in 2013, not being made until after 31 December 2013. No payments were 
made to Legacy clubs in 2013. 

The Solicitors’ Trust 65

The Trust earned interest revenue $3.015m (2012, $3.203m). 

It distributed $3.671m ($2.534m) to law related entities.

The Trust’s cash balances at 31 December 2013 exceeded the prescribed balance 
requirements of the Guarantee Fund.

Tasmanian Qualifications Authority 68

The Authority reported an excess of payments over receipts of $0.032m this year, in 
contrast to the excess receipts over payment of $0.025m in 2012. 

Despite the excess payments, at 31 December 2013 it had a cash balance of $0.616m.

Theatre Royal Management Board 70

The Board recorded a Net surplus of $0.050m in 2013, a contrast to the two previous 
years of Net deficits. This was largely attributed to an increase in ticket sales and 
decrease in depreciation expense.

At 31 December 2013, the Board’s Net assets totalled $1.353m with its most significant 
asset being Investments of $2.244m. Its most significant liability was advanced ticket 
sales of $1.260m.

We noted that banking passwords were being shared between users. This matter has 
been reported to, and is being addressed by management.

University of Tasmania 73

The University incurred an underlying deficit of $9.070m, 68% better than the 2012 
result, and a comprehensive surplus of $41.391m, consistent with 2012.

Commonwealth funding accounted for 66.6% of total revenue, inclusive of investment 
and capital revenues, in 2013. This remains above the Commonwealth benchmark of 
‘not more than’ 65% reliant on the Commonwealth.
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The largest component of expenditure for 2013 was Salary related costs, $298.941m, 
which represented 59.7% of Total Expenses. These costs increased by 6.4% in 2013 
despite insignificant change in total employee numbers. The restructure initiated in 
2012 has ensured employee numbers have remained steady while student enrolments 
have grown 16% over the past two years. However, in the last three months of 2013, 
FTE declined by more than 100. 

At 31 December 2013, the University’s total assets were $1.084bn and its Net Assets 
amounted to $872.155m, an increase of $92.656m from 2012.

Property, plant and equipment, $665.906m, continued to represent the majority of 
total assets, comprising 61.4% at 31 December 2013.

Cash, short and long term investments, $341.576m, were also significant, representing 
31.5% of total assets at 31 December 2013.

Approval of a ten year unsecured loan of $130.000m with TASCORP for the 
construction of student accommodation under the National Rent Affordability Scheme 
(NRAS). The University had not previously had any form of borrowings. The project 
will be funded by rental income earned, which is partially funded through the Federal 
Government NRAS scheme and the University are making a $25.000m contribution.  
However, because Federal funding will not be received until the projects are complete 
and until rental income is being generated, the University must fund construction in 
full resulting in the TASCORP loan.

Receipt of $11.000m from the Education Investment Fund for the construction of the 
Academy of Creative Industries and Performing Arts (ACIPA) centre in Campbell 
Street, Hobart.  

An additional $8.420m was spent on finalising the Menzies Research Institute/Health 
Sciences Collocation project during 2013.

Further development of the Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies (IMAS) 
building. An additional $23.917m was spent during 2013. Practical completion of this 
project occurred during November 2013, with a total commissioned cost of $44.203m.

Continued development of the Technology One Student Management System 
(SLIMS) project. A further $9.826m was spent in 2013 and the total amount in work 
in progress at 31 December 2013 was $20.788m. The total budget for this project is 
$36.900m with the expectation it will be commissioned in September 2014.

Other State Entities – 30 June 2013 92

Legal Aid Commission of Tasmania 93

The Commission reported an Underlying Deficit of $1.253m in 2012-13. This was 
$0.581m higher compared to last year. 

Over 90% of the Commission’s funding was provided by Australian and State 
Governments.

It received $0.780m from The Solicitors’ Trust to fund various projects.
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Net Assets totalled $2.520m at 30 June 2013. The Commission had $2.838m in cash at 
that date.

Total Equity decreased as a result of underlying deficits recorded in the past two years 
and the Commission needs to closely monitor its financial performance.

The Commission has responded in detail to our observations. Its comments are 
included in the Chapter.

National Trust of Australia (Tasmania) 97

A qualified audit report was issued on 23 October 2013. The report also included an 
emphasis of matter paragraph.

A comprehensive deficit of $0.025m was recorded for the year.

The Trust experienced significant cash flow difficulties in recent years and will receive 
additional financial assistance from the State Government to address its 2013-14 budget 
deficit.

We continue to recommend the Trust take appropriate action to ensure its restoration 
appeal liability is fully cash backed.

For the third consecutive year, the Trust failed to comply with Section 17(1) of the 
Audit Act 2008 by again submitting its financial statements after the statutory deadline.

Recommendations

1.	 The Trust will need to improve its year end reporting processes to ensure it 
complies with statutory financial reporting requirements in future. 

2.	 Given the nature of the restoration appeal funds, we continue to recommend the 
Trust take appropriate action to ensure its restoration appeal liability is fully cash 
backed.

3.	 While asset sales and government support will generate cash in the short-term, 
they are not a long-term solution to the Trust’s cash situation and the Board needs 
to take action to ensure that it achieves a more sustainable long term solution to its 
cash flow difficulties. 

The Trust has responded in detail to our observations. Its comments are included in the 
Chapter.
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introduction
This Report is Volume 5 of our suite of reports outlining audit outcomes and financial analysis 
resulting from audits of the financial statements of State entities for the 2012-13 and calendar 2013 
periods. This is our final report in this series. It contains:

•	 Key points

•	 Reporting Key Performance Indicators – trial project

•	 Local government ministerial orders 2014

•	 Disposal of firearms and ammunition

•	 Timeliness and quality of financial statements

•	 Findings from audits

•	 Grant acquittal audits

•	 Basis of setting audit fees

•	 Audits that were dispensed with

•	 Accounting and auditing standards - developments in financial reporting

•	 Analysis of financial information from completed financial statement audits of five State 
entities with a year end of 31 December 2013

•	 Analysis of financial information from completed financial statement audits of two State 
entities reporting for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

We changed the format and contents of financial analysis chapters this year to shorten the Report 
and provide a high level summary of key information.

As it relates to chapters dealing with State entities, this Report differs from its equivalent in 2013 
with these chapters now comprising:

•	 snapshot summary of key points at the beginning of each Chapter

•	 concise outline of key developments and audit findings

•	 key areas of audit attention and how we addressed those areas during the audit

•	 greater use of charts to display information previously presented in textual format

•	 financial statements and analysis tables, where significant, moved into Chapter appendices.

Our Report includes details of individual entity operations and matters raised with entity 
management during the course of audits, but only where the matter(s) raised warrant it. The 
rationale for inclusion rests on our perception of the public interest in each point.

All entities addressed in this Report were provided the opportunity to comment on matters raised.  
Where comments were provided, these are included in individual chapters.

Comments provided are not subject to audit nor the evidentiary standards required in reaching 
an audit conclusion. Responsibility for the accuracy, fairness and balance of these comments rests 
solely with those who provided the response or comment.

STATUS OF AUDITS
Audits of all State entities for the years ended 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2013 have now been 
completed. Statutory financial reporting outcomes for the entities included in this Report are 
detailed in the Chapter headed ‘Timeliness and quality of financial statements’. 

Unless specifically indicated, comments in this Report were current as at 17 April 2014.
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Appendix 2 provides details of the status of the audit of the financial statements of State entities for the 
2012-13 and calendar 2013 periods.

RESOURCES
The total cost of this Report excluding production costs is estimated to be $35 000.
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local government ministerial orders 2014

SNAPSHOT
•	 In February 2014 Orders were gazetted requiring local government councils to establish 

audit panels, develop long-term financial and long-term asset management strategies, policies 
and plans and report certain financial sustainability indicators in the notes to annual financial 
statements. 

•	 The Orders were unclear as to timeframes by when councils are expected to comply 
although the financial sustainability indicators must be included in the notes to annual 
financial statements at 30 June 2014.

•	 The Orders were clear as to the establishment of audit panels and the content of long-term 
financial and long-term asset management strategies, policies and plans and the financial 
sustainability indicators to be reported.

•	 Other than the Asset renewal funding ratio, we will audit reported financial sustainability 
indicators at 30 June 2014.

•	 In the case of the Asset renewal funding ratio, where reported, we will ensure these are in 
line with approved long-term financial and long-term asset management plans but we will 
not form an audit opinion on this ratio.

•	 We anticipate that where a council does not report the Asset renewal funding ratio, reasons 
will be provided along with details as to when compliance will be achieved.

•	 We anticipate that councils will set targets for each financial sustainability indicator and 
explain variations from target.

•	 We anticipate that information about financial sustainability indicators will include trend 
data over more than two financial periods.

•	 We will assess, not audit, compliance with the other Orders.

•	 Any findings will be reported to respective councils and to the Parliament.

OUR ROLE
We were consulted during the development of the Orders referred to in this Chapter. However, 
apart from work we must do as outlined in section 6 of this Chapter, we have no ongoing role. In 
particular, we play no regulatory function. This is a matter for the Local Government Division in 
the Department of Premier and Cabinet.

OBJECTIVE BEHIND INCLUSION OF THIS CHAPTER IN THIS 
REPORT
In February 2014, Orders were gazetted requiring local government councils to establish audit 
panels, develop long-term financial and asset management strategies, policies and plans and report 
certain financial sustainability indicators (referred to as management indicators) in annual financial 
statements. These Orders took effect immediately and councils are expected to comply, although, 
apart from the management indicator which are to be included in 30 June 2014 financial reports, 
the Orders contain no guidance as to when compliance is to be achieved.  

Based on our previous reports we believe it likely that some councils will find it difficult to fully 
implement all of the new requirements in the short term and probably not by 30 June 2014. For 
example, our reporting about audit committees and existence of long-term financial and long-term 
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asset management plans indicates some councils will need time to implement these Orders in full. We 
consider this a reasonable expectation in the circumstances.

The objective behind including this Chapter in this Report is to set out how we will assess council 
responses to these Orders in the financial year ending 30 June 2014 bearing in mind our above noted 
‘reasonable expectation’, and to note our anticipation that all councils will report all of the management 
indicators which will then be subjected to audit.

However, we expect that by 30 June 2015 all councils will comply in full with all Orders.

BACKGROUND
Following consultation and building on the work of our Office, the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Amendments) Act 2013 (Amendment Act) received Royal Assent on 19 November 2013. Part 4 of the 
Amendment Act requires councils to: 

•	 maintain long-term financial and asset management plans, financial and asset management 
strategies and an asset management policy

•	 maintain an audit panel 

•	 report financial and asset management sustainability indicators in their financial statements, and

•	 provides a power for the Minister for Local Government to make Ministerial Orders outlining 
the detail and minimum requirements of the financial and asset management reforms detailed 
above. 

Commencement of Part 4 of the Amendment Act was delayed to allow for the development of the 
Ministerial Orders which outline the detail and minimum requirements of the financial and asset 
management reforms.  

Part 4 of the Amendment Act was proclaimed on 7 February 2014. Subsequently, the then Minister for 
Local Government made the following Ministerial Orders under Sections 70F, 84 (2A) and 85B of the 
Local Government Act 1993:

•	 the Local Government (Contents of Plans and Strategies) Order 2014

•	 the Local Government (Audit Panels) Order 2014 and

•	 the Local Government (Management Indicators) Order 2014. 

These Orders were effective on the day of their gazettal which occurred on 19 February 2014.

PRIMARY FUNCTIONS OR PURPOSE
The primary purpose and or functions of each order are:

Audit Panels
Clause 4 of Local Government (Audit Panels) Order 2014 notes the following matters that an audit panel is 
to consider as part of keeping relevant council’s performance under review:

	 (a) whether the annual financial statements of the council accurately represent the state of  		
	      affairs of the council;

	 (b) whether and how strategic plan, an annual plan, a long-term financial management plan or 	
	       a long-term strategic asset management plan of a council are integrated and the processes by 	
	      which, and assumptions under which, those plans were prepared;

	 (c) the accounting, internal control, anti-fraud, anti-corruption and risk management policies, 	
	      systems and controls that the council has in relation to safeguarding its long-term financial 	
	      position;
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	 (d) whether the council is complying with the provisions of the Act and any other relevant 	
	       legislation;

	 (e) whether the council has taken any action in relation to previous recommendations 	
	      provided by the audit panel to the council and, if it has so taken action, what that 	
	      action was and its effectiveness.

Contents of plans and strategies
This Order outlines required content and strategies of the following plans, which must be prepared 
under sections 70 and 70A to 70E of the Act:

	 (a) long-term financial management plan

	 (b) financial management strategy

	 (c) long-term strategic asset management plan

	 (d) asset management policy

	 (e) asset management strategy.

It also details those classes of assets that are referred to as major assets for purposes of section 70 of 
the Act.

Management Indicators (referred to by us as financial 
sustainability indicators)
Section 84 subsection (2A) authorises that the Minister, by order, may specify that annual financial 
statements of councils include:

	 (a) financial management indicators; and 

	 (b) asset management indicators. 

The Order requires inclusion of the following indicators in the notes to the annual financial 
statements of each council:

•	 asset consumption ratio 

•	 asset renewal funding ratio

•	 asset sustainability ratio

•	 net financial liabilities 

•	 net financial liabilities ratio

•	 underlying surplus or deficit

•	 underlying surplus ratio.

Appendix 1 to this Chapter provides a definition of each of these indicators.  

WHAT COUNCILS WILL NEED TO DO
Audit panels
Two situations are evident:

1.	 Those councils that have already established audit committees will need, assuming they have 
not already done so, to ensure their charters, member appointment, meeting and annual 
work plan arrangements satisfy the new Order. 
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2.	 Those councils who currently have no audit committees in place, of which at 30 June 2013 
there were a number, will need to take steps to appoint committees/panels in line with the 
Order.

Plans and strategies
Again, two situations are evident:

1.	 Those councils that have already developed the required strategies, policies and plans will, if 
they have not already done so, need to ensure these are integrated and approved by respective 
audit panels. 

2.	 Those councils who currently have no strategies, policies and plans in place, will need to 
take steps to ensure these documents are in line with the Order.

Financial sustainability (management) indicators
Councils will need to calculate these ratios and include them in the notes to the annual financial 
statements signed by their general managers and presented for audit commencing 30 June 2014. 
Where, due to the possible lack of long-term asset management of financial management plans for 
example, councils are unable to calculate all ratios, we anticipate reasons for this will be provided 
along with steps as to actions being taken to address this.

WHAT WE WILL NEED TO DO
Auditing standard ASA 250 Consideration of Laws and Regulations in relation to an Audit of a Financial 
Report requires notes that the objectives of the auditor are (our emphasis by underlining):

	 (a) To obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding compliance with the 		
	       provisions of those laws and regulations generally recognised to have a direct effect on       	
                  the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial report; 

	 (b) To perform specified audit procedures to help identify instances of non-compliance 	
	       with other laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial report;      	
                  and 

	 (c) To respond appropriately to non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws 	
	       and regulations identified during the audit. 

This standard defines non-compliance as (our emphasis by underlining): 

	 acts of omission or commission by the entity, either intentional or unintentional, which are contrary 	
	 to the prevailing laws or regulations. Such acts include transactions entered into by, or in the name 	
	 of, the entity, or on its behalf, by those charged with governance, management or employees. Non-	
	 compliance does not include personal misconduct (unrelated to the business activities of the entity) by 	
	 those charged with governance, management or employees of the entity.

The three Orders will have the following impacts on our audits for the year ending 30 June 2014:

•	 audit panels – it is our expectation that by 30 June 2014 all councils will have established, or 
will have progressed establishment of, audit (or equivalent) panels with charters consistent 
with the Order. Where we find that this is not the case, we will report to the council and to 
Parliament accordingly. However, non-compliance will not impact our audit opinion on the 
financial statements.

•	 content of plans, policies and strategies – page 38 in Report of the Auditor-General No. 4 
of 2012-13 Auditor-General’s Report on the Financial Statements of State Volume 3 Part I Local 
Government Authorities 2012-13 notes that at 30 June 2013 seven councils had not developed 
long-term asset management plans and four had not developed long-term financial 
management plans. However, and as indicated in that Report, developed plans had not been 
audited.1  

1. That report did not address the existence of asset management or financial management policies or strategies 

nor did it set out to.
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It is not our intention to audit long-term asset management or financial management plan. These 
are ‘forward looking’ with our focus being on ‘historical’ financial information. However, our 
audits for the 2013-14 financial year will:

○○ inquire into the existence of these plans or progress towards their development

○○ establish whether they have been reviewed and reported on (reported to council) by 
audit panels (the Audit Panels Order makes this a requirement) 

○○ inquire into the extent of reporting by management on compliance with, achievement 
of, these plans and evidence their regular review and update.

Our findings will be reported to councils and to Parliament. However, other than any potential 
impacts on the asset renewal funding ratio referred to below, non-compliance will not impact our 
audit opinion on the financial statements.

•	 Management indicators – our reports to Parliament regarding councils have for some time 
now included all of the indicators required by this Order and we anticipate, other than 
for the asset renewal funding ratio, that councils will report all of these indicators in the 
notes to their 2013-14 financial statements. We will then audit these indicators and form an 
opinion on them along with our opinion on the financial statements as a whole. Any non-
compliance, which we expect will be rare, will be reported to respective councils and to 
Parliament. Where there is non-compliance, we will also assess the materiality thereof and 
any implications of our audit opinion. 

	 Asset renewal funding ratio – this is a ‘forward looking’ ratio requiring completion of 		
	 long-term asset management and long-term financial management plans at least for the 	
	 next ten years. As noted in the previous dot point, we will inquire into the existence of 	
	 these plans, their adoption and so on. We will also ensure the mathematical accuracy of the 	
	 plans but we will not attempt to form a view regarding other matters such as assumptions 	
	 and judgements made, priorities chosen, systems implemented, etc. As a result, our audit 	
	 report will include the following sentence:

	 My audit is not designed to provide assurance on the accuracy and appropriateness of the budget 	
	 information or the asset renewal funding ratio in Council’s financial report.

	 However, we will test the calculation of the ratio. 

	 The outcomes of our work will be reported to respective councils and to the Parliament. 	
	 We anticipate instances where, due to lack of long-term asset management and long-term 	
	 financial management plans some councils may not report the asset renewal funding ratio. 	
	 Where we find this is the case, we:

○○ anticipate that reasons for not calculating the ratio will be provided along with details 
as to when it will be included

○○ will report to the council and to Parliament accordingly. However, non-compliance 
will not impact our audit opinion on the financial statements.

OUR EXPECTATIONS REGARDING THE MANAGEMENT 
INDICATORS
In the previous section we note our approach to auditing the financial sustainability indicators 
required to be reported annually. While not a requirement of the Management Indicators Order, 
we anticipate that, in order for alderman, councillors and general managers to be fully responsible 
for the governance and accountability of their respective councils, they set targets for each ratio and 
explain achievements both better and worse than target. 

In addition, we anticipate that:

•	 targets be set in line with those established by the Institute of Public Works Engineers. 
Doing this ensures councils set similar targets which are based on those recommended by an 
independent body.

•	 councils include in their financial statements comparative performance over periods longer 
than two years.
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OUR EXPECTATIONS REGARDING COMPLIANCE WITH ALL 
THREE ORDERS IN 2014-15 AND SUBSEQUENT YEARS
It is our expectation that by 30 June 2015 all councils will have complied with all three Orders in 
full.

APPENDIX 1
Definitions
The Local Government (Management Indicators) Order 2014 defines the various indicators addressed by this 
Order as follows:

Asset consumption ratio, in relation to an asset class required to be included in the long-term 
strategic asset management plan of a council, means an amount that is the depreciated replacement 
cost of an asset divided by the current replacement cost of the asset;

Asset renewal funding ratio means an amount that is the current value of projected capital 
funding outlays for an asset identified in the long-term financial plan of a council divided by the 
value of projected capital expenditure funding for an asset identified in the long-term strategic asset 
management plan of a council;

Asset sustainability ratio means an amount that is the amount of capital expenditure by a 
council in a financial year on the replacement and renewal of existing council plant, equipment and 
infrastructure assets divided by the annual depreciation expense of the plant, equipment and assets 
for the financial year; 

Net financial liabilities means an amount that is the amount of the liquid assets of a council for a 
financial year less the total liabilities of the council for the financial year;

Net financial liabilities ratio means an amount that is the amount of net financial liabilities of 
a council for a financial year divided by an amount that is the recurrent income (not including 
income received specifically for new or upgraded assets, physical resources received free of charge 
or other income of a capital nature) of a council for the financial year;

Underlying surplus or deficit means an amount that is the recurrent income (not including 
income received specifically for new or upgraded assets, physical resources received free of charge 
or other income of a capital nature) of a council for a financial year less the recurrent expenses of 
the council for the financial year;

Underlying surplus ratio means an amount that is the underlying surplus or deficit of a council 
for a financial year divided by the recurrent income (not including income received specifically 
for new or upgraded assets, physical resources received free of charge or other income of a capital 
nature) of a council for the financial year.

Further information about these ratios, the manner in which they are calculated and anticipated 
benchmarks can be found on pages 25 to 27 of Report of the Auditor-General No. 4 of 2012-13 
Auditor-General’s Report on the Financial Statements of State entities Volume 3 Part I Local Government 
Authorities 2012-13.
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Reporting Key Performance Indicators - 
Trial Project

SNAPSHOT
•	 Tasmania has had an output based budgeting framework since 1997. Despite this there is a 

lack of public reporting of indicators of efficiency.

•	 Other jurisdictions are leading the way.

•	 This Chapter provides suggestions on indicators of efficiency that selected departments could 
be adopting.

•	 This trial is aimed at establishing relevant and appropriate efficiency Key Performance 
Indictors (KPIs) for reporting by departments. 

RECOMMENDATION
We recommend that all departments consider the indicators in this Chapter or design other 
suitable indicators of efficiency for inclusion in budget papers and annual reports.

submissions and comments
A copy of this Chapter was provided to all departments, including those for which KPIs were not 
proposed in this Chapter, with an invitation to make a submission or comment.

Responses received are included in the appendix to this Chapter. In some cases errors in our 
analysis were pointed out. For example, the Secretary of the Department of Education correctly 
pointed out that in determining the average cost per student we had included costs associated with 
LINC. However, while these errors were noted, no changes to the Chapter were made because, 
as indicated in the snapshot above, this is a trial project and we will work with agencies to refine 
information reported in future.

BACKGROUND
The State introduced output based budgeting in 1997. Since that time Departments have included 
a range of KPIs in budget papers and annual reports. However, as we will indicate in this Chapter, 
reporting efficiency indicators has been lacking.

In a recent report by the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO)1, it noted the following:

1.	 The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) has observed that:	
while measuring government performance has long been recognised as playing an 		
important role in increasing the effectiveness and efficiency of the public administration, 	
following the economic crisis and fiscal tightening in many member countries, good 		
indicators are needed more than ever to help governments make informed decisions 		
regarding tough choices and help restore confidence in government institutions.2 

2.	 Performance reporting regimes have been receiving increasing attention in many OECD 
countries, including Australia, since the mid-1980s. Over time, there has been a trend to 
move away from a narrow focus on reporting on financial inputs, towards integrated models 
that are intended to provide a clearer picture of the results or outcomes that have been 

1. ANAO Report No.21 2013-14, Pilot Projects to Audit Key Performance Indicators, page 13, available from 
http://www.anao.gov.au/Publications.
2. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Government at a Glance 2013 [Internet], OECD 
Publishing, 2013, available from http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/governance/government-at-a-glance-2013_gov_

glance-2013-en [accessed 9 January 2014].
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achieved from the expenditure of public money – in other words, whether the outcomes or the 
impacts sought by government are being realised. With the current focus on budget and policy 
priorities, performance information, particularly concerning the impact of government policies 
where such information is available, can be expected to be a key input into decisions by both 
government and government agencies.

3.	 Measuring the impact of programs, or outcomes, can have many benefits and provides 
performance information that measurement of inputs (resources invested) and outputs 
(deliverables) alone cannot. Importantly, outcome measurement provides information about the 
effectiveness of programs or services and supports the longer-term evaluation of programs. In 
addition, performance information can also inform decisions on the efficiently of delivery models 
adopted to achieve desired policy outcomes.

4.	 In essence, performance measurement can:

○○ help clarify government objectives and responsibilities; 

○○ promote analysis of the relationships between agencies;

○○ make performance more transparent, and enhance accountability;

○○ provide governments with indicators of their policy and program performance over time;

○○ inform the wider community about government performance; and

○○ encourage ongoing performance improvements in service delivery and effectiveness, by 
highlighting improvements and innovation.3 

We concur with these observations.

INTRODUCTION
We have carried out performance audits of reported KPIs in recent years as follows:

•	 Special Report No.72 - Public sector performance information, April 2008. This report noted 
improvements were needed in reporting of indicators of efficiency and effectiveness and our 
expectation that, consistent with the State’s output based funding model, departments would 
annually report relevant and appropriate indicators of their effectiveness and efficiency.

•	 Special Report No. 92 - Public sector productivity a ten year comparison, October 2010. In the 
Forword to that report the Auditor-General noted: ‘At the same time, difficult though this may 
be, there is I believe a need for the public sector to be able to demonstrate how productive or 
efficient it is in providing its services and functions. Of relevance is that efficiency is not only 
about ‘cost’ — a service can cost more but be more efficient. Also of relevance is the need to 
balance accessibility of public services and their costs particularly in education and health.’

•	 Report No.11 of 2012-13, Volume 5, Other State entities 30 June 2012 and 31 December 2012 
included a Chapter on the Department of Health and Human Services’ output based expenditure.  
It highlighted the shift from input to output based reporting by departments and the need for 
them to establish relevant and appropriate indicators of efficiency, effectiveness and access (or 
equity) and targets to be attained.  

	 That report included the following recommendation:

	 ‘That Tasmanian State entities be required to annually report relevant and appropriate indicators 	
	 of their effectiveness and efficiency and that these be audited.’

It is disappointing that despite these reports, there has been little take-up by departments in reporting 
their efficiency.

3.  Steering Committee for the Review of Government Service Provision, Report on Government Services 2014, 
Volume A: Approach to performance reporting, Productivity Commission, Canberra 2014, P.1.4.
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PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE (PAC)
The PAC followed-up Special Report 72 and in its 2013 report recommended that a framework be 
implemented supporting and mandating the Auditor-General to annually audit the KPIs of an Agency 
disclosed in the Agency’s annual report.

We support this recommendation but note that it has not, to date, resulted in action.

PRACTICES IN OTHER AUSTRALIAN JURISDICTIONS
The reporting of KPIs in other jurisdictions and levels of government is at varying stages of 
development. At the Commonwealth level, the Productivity Commission each year issues its Report 
on Government Services (ROGS). However, while ROGs is an excellent report, information 
reported can be, for good reasons, 12 months or more later than annual reports prepared by agencies. 
In addition, the ANAO has now completed two reports on this subject being;

•	 Report No.28 2012-13 The Australian Government Performance Measurement and Reporting 
Framework, Pilot Project to Audit Key Performance Indicators

•	 Report No.21 2013-14 Pilot Project to Audit Key Performance Indicators

At the State level, Western Australia has a mature KPI reporting environment, having reported KPIs 
across all its agencies and departments for approximately twenty years. In that jurisdiction, reporting 
relevant and appropriate KPIs is compulsory and they are subject to audit. Reporting KPIs in selected 
sectors also occurs in Queensland and Victoria.

At the local government level, all Tasmanian councils will, for the year ending 30 June 2014, be 
required to disclose in their annual financial report certain financial and asset management indicators.  
(Refer to the Local Government Ministerial Orders 2014 Chapter in this Report)

REPORTING FRAMEWORK
One of the biggest inhibitors to performance reporting is the lack of a generally recognised reporting 
framework. The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) has recognised 
this deficiency and is currently researching improvements in reporting performance information. An 
exposure draft presenting a proposed Recommended Practice Guide is currently seeking comments 
which close on 31 May 2014 meaning that it is likely to be some time before the Guide is issued. 

However, while formal guidance in Australian jurisdictions may be some time off; the IPSASB has 
recognised that users are seeking service performance information to enhance decision-making.

DEVELOPMENTS IN TASMANIA
In addition to the existing Outputs Based Budgeting framework in Tasmania, two other programs are 
relevant.

StatsMatter program
Tasmanian Government agencies are currently working towards building more robust data and 
statistical information for critical decisions to direct resources and services. The ‘StatsMatter’ program 
is managed by the Departments of Premier and Cabinet (DPAC) and the Department of Treasury and 
Finance (Treasury) in collaboration with other agencies. It recognises that ‘Government decisions are 
underpinned by accessible, high quality and relevant statistical and special data.’ The development and 
reporting of KPIs by agencies are one of the indicators of success of the program.  
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Performance contracts
Another project under way is the development of KPIs to inform Heads of Agencies’ performance 
agreements. 

Current Reporting
Also, we note that departments have included KPIs:

•	 in budget papers although the focus has been on indicators of effectiveness

•	 in annual reports but again focussing on effectiveness.

WORK WE HAVE BEEN DOING
In addition to the reports to Parliament on this subject referred to in the introduction to this 
Chapter, and in the absence of reporting by government departments of efficiency indicators, in the 
first half of financial year 2013-14 we conducted a research project aimed at establishing what we 
regarded as relatively straightforward efficiency KPIs for the main agencies charged with delivery of 
services to the public. Draft proposals were presented to Heads of Agencies in November 2013 with 
the intention that details be reported in this Chapter. The selected agencies were:

•	 Department of Education

•	 Department of Infrastructure, Energy and Resources

•	 Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and the Environment

•	 Department of Health and Human Services

•	 Department of Justice

•	 Department of Police and Emergency Management 

•	 Department of Economic Development, Tourism and the Arts.

The selected efficiency KPIs are detailed later in this Chapter. They were selected to demonstrate 
their usefulness in assessing performance by users not able to demand access to information. 

Information used in the KPIs identified was drawn from the previous four or five year periods using 
publicly available and comparable data to identify trends. Both nominal and real costs adjusting 
for inflation, Consumer Price Index (CPI), are shown. We have not tried to explain, or seek 
explanations for variations in efficiency evident in each graph. Our intent is to demonstrate the 
types of performance information that could be reported and explained by agencies in assessing 
their own efficiency. The graphs are limited to actual performance compared over time. We have 
not included targets or inter-jurisdictional comparatives although including this information would 
enhance information about efficiency.  

EFFICIENCY INDICATORS SHOULD ASSESS TOTAL PERFORMANCE
Ideally, indicators selected should address all of an agency’s activities and be reconcilable to 
expenditure in financial reports. This will not be easy in the first instance and some agencies will 
find it difficult to develop KPIs that address the entirety of their operations. This can be particularly 
challenging for multi-faceted departments. In this Chapter we have only focused on selected areas 
within each agency included.



24 Reporting Key Performance Indicators - Trial Project

A WORD OF CAUTION
Collecting and reporting KPIs is not an exact science and it must be noted that the KPIs selected 
are just that – indicators of performance. Many factors often need to be taken into account when 
selecting KPIs and when assessing the performance they purport to demonstrate. 

Difficulties also arise in the establishment of systems to collect the data upon which KPIs are based. 
This can be expensive and time consuming, with care needed in selecting the most appropriate, 
relevant and beneficial indicators. 

TRIAL PROJECT 
This Chapter is provided as a starting point to highlighting the important role that reported 
efficiency indicators can play in assessing performance in the public sector. This is a journey 
towards improved reporting and accountability for us and departments. 

We acknowledge that some of the KPIs presented in this Chapter may not be perfect but in the 
absence of reporting efficiency KPIs by agencies, we decided we needed to start somewhere.  
Efficiency reporting is an important area of public accountability that warrants greater prominence 
in public sector reporting. Although still in its infancy in our State, it is an area we will continue to 
focus on in reporting on public sector performance.  

Department of Education
Focus - To measure average expenditure per student in providing educational services in Tasmania.

This measure was derived by dividing the total expenditure for the Department by the total 
number of full time equivalent (FTE) students in Government schools. The procedure was applied 
for each of the Department’s Output Groups – Pre-Year 10 (Output Group 1) and Post-Year 10 
education (Output Group 2). Output Group 1 includes early years programs and K-10 education. 
Output Group 2 includes the consolidation of the Polytechnic and Academy in 2010-11 and  
2011-12. The main source for the measure was the Department of Education’s Annual Reports 
that are publicly available. The Australian Bureau of Statistics was also utilised for some supporting 
information.

Comparing expenditure to the number of students provides a meaningful indicator as it allows 
readers to judge the average cost of providing education in Tasmania. The indicator is easy to 
understand as it produces a simple line graph that is not complex and demonstrates the trend at a 
glance. It is acknowledged that the indicator has no quality dimension.
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Figure 1: Total average cost per student

Figure 2: Average cost per student in Output Group Ome: includes early years 
programs and K-10 education

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Nominal Average Cost $14 756 $16 154 $16 875 $17 125 $17 185
Real Average Cost $14 756 $15 741 $15 981 $15 853 $15 728
Number of Students FTE 61 484 61 013 61 037 61 320 60 832
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2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Nominal Average Cost $12 452 $13 009 $14 198 $14 771 $14 972
Real Average Cost $12 452 $12 677 $13 447 $13 675 $13 703
Number of Students FTE 54 798 53 910 53 232 53 072 52 551
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Figure 3: Average cost per student in Output Group Two: Post-year 10 education 
including the consolidation of Polytechnic and Academy in 2010-11 and 2011-12

Our observations 

We anticipate that the Department of Education would explain why:

•	 average real cost per student increased in 2009-2011 but declined thereafter

•	 average cost per student in output group two increased in 2009-10 but declined significantly 
thereafter. We anticipate, for example, that this was connected with reforms associated with 
the Academy and the Polytechnic. 

Department of Infrastructure, Energy and Resources 
Focus – Roads maintenance, as part of the Capital Investment Program.

This measure was derived by dividing total maintenance costs expended as part of the capital 
investment program by roads per kilometre of road length.

This indicator allows readers to gauge the cost of works performed on the State road system. These 
roads are utilised by a large portion of the population, so having a measure addressing roads gives a 
meaningful indicator to the public. It shows movements in maintenance expenditure on roads.

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Nominal Average Cost $27 302 $30 568 $27 349 $26 383 $26 543
Real Average Cost $27 302 $29 788 $25 901 $24 424 $24 293
Number of Students FTE 6 686 7 103 7 805 8 248 8 281
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Figure 4: Cost to Maintain One Kilometre of Road

Our observations 

We anticipate that DIER would explain why:

•	 in real terms costs declined over the period 2009-10 to 2010-11, but increased thereafter.

Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and the 
Environment
Focus – Parks and Wildlife Service, average cost of services per hectare of parks and reserves.

The measure was calculated by taking the expenditure of the Parks and Wildlife Services and 
dividing it by the total area of parks and reserves. It presents the dollar value expended by the 
department per hectare of parks and reserves.

Figure 5: Average Cost of services per hectare (ha) of parks and reserves

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Nominal Average Cost $13 342 $11 864 $12 366 $13 780
Real Average Cost $13 342 $11 530 $11 747 $12 942
Road Length (km) 3 651 3 660 3 661 3 732
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2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Nominal Ave Cost per ha $16.77 $17.43 $19.94 $22.31 $20.30 $18.65
Real Ave Cost per ha $16.77 $16.94 $18.90 $20.54 $18.27 $16.60
Total Hectares 2 586 031 2 586 031 2 586 031 2 586 031 2 586 031 2 586 031
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Our observations 

We anticipate that DPIPWE would explain the increase in average cost to 2010-11 and decline 
thereafter.

Department of Health and Human Services
Areas within the Department considered included:

•	 Ambulance Tasmania

•	 Hospitals

•	 Housing Tasmania.

Ambulance Tasmania

Focus – Average cost per ambulance response and average response per FTE.

These measures were derived using response data and comparing it respectively to total expenditure 
and the number of ambulance officers. We acknowledge these measures have no quality dimension.

Figure 6: Average Cost per Ambulance Response and Total Responses

*Response information form Ambulance Tasmania FYI reporting)

Our observations 

We anticipate that Ambulance Tasmania would explain why responses increased in 2012-13 despite 
a real decline in costs.

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Nominal Ave Cost per Response $600 $670 $686 $777 $828 $781
Real Ave Cost per Response $600 $652 $650 $715 $745 $695
Total Responses * 61 020 61 165 67 396 70 314 71 879 76 342
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Figure 7: Average Annual Annual Ambulance Officer FTEs and Responses per Officer

*Response information form Ambulance Tasmania FYI reporting)

Our observations 

We anticipate that Ambulance Tasmania would explain why the number of average responses 
per FTE has remained reasonably consistent, ranging between 239 and 256, while the number of 
Ambulance Officers and total responses has increased.

Hospitals

Focus – Nursing FTEs per Tasmanian public hospital bed.

This measure was derived using Australian Institute of Health and Welfare health statistics 
by dividing the average available beds by the average FTE nurses in public hospitals. It shows 
how many nursing staff on average attends each hospital bed providing a trend on nursing staff 
employed.

Figure 8: Average Nursing FTE per Bed

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Ave Responses per FTE 235 246 240 240 246
Ambulance Officer FTEs 260 274 293 299 310
Total Responses * 61 165 67 396 70 314 71 879 76 342
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Our observations 

We anticipate that DHHS would explain why average nursing FTE per bed increased over the 
period 2008-09 to 2010-11 and then declined slightly.

Other indicators to consider:

Average costs of providing:

•	 Dental Services

•	 Royal Flying Doctor Service

•	 Palliative Care

•	 Weighted separations

•	 Cost per weighted separation against National Efficient Price (from 1 July 2014)

•	 Emergency department attendances.

Housing Tasmania

Focus – Dwelling revenues and costs.

By using both revenue and cost measures we can demonstrate that efficiency KPIs are not only 
for measuring costs. They can also be used for measuring average revenues. This can be done by 
reporting rental income per dwelling and tenant contribution per dwelling.

Possible indicators for reporting could include: 

•	 Annual Potential Rental Income per Dwelling

•	 Annual Tenant Contribution per Dwelling

•	 Direct Property Cost per Dwelling

•	 Operating Cost per Dwelling

•	 Maintenance Cost per Dwelling.

However we only selected Maintenance Cost per Dwelling for demonstration.

Figure 9: Maintenance Cost per Dwelling

We anticipate that Housing Tasmania would explain the increase in maintenance costs per dwelling 
from 2009-10 onwards.

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Nominal Recurrent Cost $2 388 $3 081 $2 413 $2 782 $2 672 $3 056
Real Recurrent Cost $2 388 $2 995 $2 286 $2 561 $2 405 $2 719
Dwellings 12 563 12 645 13 082 13 243 13 441 13 441
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Department of Justice
Focus – Average cost per prisoner in the Corrective Services Division.

This measure was derived using prisoner expenditure from the department’s annual reports and 
average prisoner numbers from the Australian Bureau of Statistics.

Figure 10: Average Annual Cost per Prisoner

We anticipate that the Department of Justice would explain why:

•	 the average cost per prisoner has fluctuated

•	 the extent to which costs are fixed regardless of the numbers of prisoners.

Other indicators to consider:

Average costs of providing:

•	 Services to juvenile prisoners

•	 Cases in various courts

•	 Legal services.

Department of Police and Emergency Management
Focus – Total expenditure per person for the Tasmanian population.

This measure was derived by dividing total departmental expenditure by the population to 
determine the dollars spent per person.

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Nominal Average Annual Cost $90 874 $99 055 $107 072 $122 352 $109 152 $126 422
Real Average Annual Cost $90 874 $96 300 $101 437 $112 651 $98 237 $112 486
Average Daily Number of Prisoners 530 511 471 455 507 455
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Figure 11: Expenditure on Police Services per Person

We anticipate that the DPEM would explain the increase in expenditure per person to  
2010-11 and the decline thereafter.

Other indicators to consider, which are used in other jurisdictions:

•	 hourly costs to provide various police services

•	 average cost per investigation.

Department of Economic Development, Tourism and the Arts
Areas within the department considered included Tourism Tasmania.

Tourism Tasmania

Focus – Average Cost per visitor to the State.

The measure was derived by dividing total expenditure incurred by Tourism Tasmania by the 
number of visitors, excluding Events Tasmania. (Events Tasmania was separated from Tourism 
Tasmania in July 2011.)

Figure 12: Average cost per Visitor excluding Events Tasmania

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Population 497 529 503 292 507 643 511 195 513 958
Expenditure per Person $393 $415 $438 $431 $415
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We anticipate that Tourism Tasmania would explain why:

•	 average costs per visitor have been declining even though visitor numbers have fluctuated

•	 the reason for the improvement in 2012-13 despite the lower spend.

Another indicator to consider is the advertising/promotional cost per visitor.

RECOMMENDATION
We recommend that all departments consider the indicators in this Chapter or design other suitable 
indicators of efficiency for inclusion in budget papers and annual reports.

reporting key performance indicators - trial project
Submissions and comments received from departments
Department of Premier and Cabinet

Thank you for your letter of 2 April inviting comments on a draft chapter for inclusion in a Report 
to Parliament dealing with the reporting by Tasmanian Government agencies of key performance 
indicators (KPIs).

The Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPAC) supports the intent of the trial project that you 
are undertaking to develop efficiency measures that can be used for public reporting purposes.  
DPAC notes your recommendation that all departments consider the indicators in the draft chapter 
or design other more suitable indicators of efficiency for inclusion in budget papers and annual 
reports.

DPAC also notes that the efficiency measures included in the draft chapter are provided as 
examples only. It will be important for agencies to ensure they develop efficiency measures that 
can accurately represent their performance in delivering outcomes for which they are responsible.  
For instance, with regard to the Department of Education’s examples, the methodology used to 
calculate the total average cost per student does not appear to recognise the differential funding 
formulas that are applied to differing student cohorts in the education system.

As part of future work, I consider that it would be useful to discuss with agencies ways of 
measuring public sector productivity and efficiency more broadly.

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the draft material.

Greg Johannes

Secretary

Department of Treasury and Finance

Treasury is supportive of the reporting of key performance indicators which lead to greater 
accountability for Government expenditure. Departments already prepare indicators on 
performance for publication in budget documents and annual reports. Further refining these 
indicators to ensure relevance and consistency with is undoubtedly necessary, however data 
accuracy, completeness and validity continue to be issues of concern for many agencies. To be of 
value it is important that information presented is reliable and of high quality. 

To drive performance improvements, indicators should be chosen which are useful for normal 
departmental management purposes, rather than solely produced for annual reporting purposes. As 
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such, individual departments are best placed to determine appropriate indicators of performance. 
Appropriate explanations of variations and context are also important to assist user understanding. 

Another important consideration is the basis of comparison of key performance indictors or 
appropriate benchmarking. The basis of comparison needs to be relevant and meaningful. 

It is accepted that these issues are not easily addressed but that is not a reason not to pursue them. 
Indeed the Stats Matter project is also aimed at increasing the relevance, accountability and quality 
of statistical information produced, used and reported by Government. 

I encourage departments to give serious attention to the refinement and development of key 
performance indicators, particularly efficiency KPIs.

Tony Ferrall

Secretary

Department of Education

The Department places a strong emphasis on Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) as evidenced 
by a range of KPIs in its annual report as well as being subject to a range of national frameworks 
for efficiency and effectiveness measures. In respect of efficiency measures in particular, the 
Department references details in its Annual Report on Government expenditure per student 
in government schools (refer page 148 of 2012-13 Annual Report). That reference is provided 
via a link to data published in the Australian Government Productivity Commission Report on 
Government Services (ROGS). 

With the established national framework in place for ROGS it is considered that introducing other 
efficiency KPIs, such as those proposed in this report, would create confusion. In addition, the basis 
of calculation for the KPIs in this report are considered problematic for the following reasons:

•	 Figure 1 - Total Average Cost Per Student: includes expenditure for Output Group 3 LINC 
Tasmania which is not relevant for the KPI;

•	 Figure 2 - Total Average Cost Per Student for Output Group 1: includes expenditure 
for Output 1.4 Early Years which is not relevant for the KPI as it is not student related 
expenditure; and

•	 Figure 3 - Total Average Cost Per Student for Output Group 2: for vocational education 
training students the FTE student number used in the divisor only captures those students 
who are defined as being of school age. That is, the calculation includes expenditure for 
vocational education training students who are not of school age (at the former Polytechnic, 
Tasmanian Skills Institute or private Registered Training Organisations) but does not 
include the enrolment FTE number in the calculation. In addition, if the KPI were to be 
used it would be considered more appropriate to split it into two components, the first being 
Senior Secondary Education  and the second being Vocational Education and Training. The 
latter would also normally be measured as a cost per delivery hour.

In summary, the Department’s view is that while existing well established KPI measures are 
reported on, I support in principle the direction taken in this report.

Colin Pettit

Secretary
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Department of Infrastructure, Energy and Resources

The Department strongly supports the recommendation of your report which provides a basis to 
move forward with the public reporting of performance indicators that measure efficiency. The 
publication of these performance indicators in documents such as budget papers is important in the 
accountability and measurement of the effectiveness of Departments and the Government. 

It is noted that the indicators proposed in your report as a starting point are largely based upon cost. 
As cost on its own is not a reliable indicator of efficiency your proposal has spurred us to thinking  
of how it can be used in conjunction with other indicators for example that measure the condition 
of the road. In addition, we need to think about how accounting treatments can affect the cost 
base and in turn the reliability of the measure, for example maintenance projects that are expensed 
instead of capitalised, which is project dependent.

The Department will consider current and development of new performance indicators in the light 
of your report in preparation for future budgets in consultation with portfolio ministers. I have no 
doubt that your report will assist in setting the reporting foundations of the new Department of 
State Growth as we move forward.

Bob Rutherford on behalf of Kim Evans

Acting Secretary

Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and the Environment

Thank you for your letter of 2 April 2014 inviting comments on the draft chapter concerning key 
performance indicators for inclusion in your forthcoming Report to Parliament.

The Department will adopt the suggested indicator for the Parks and Wildlife Service.

As recently noted in DPIPWE’s response to the Tasmanian Audit Office’s follow up of Special 
Report No. 92, the Department is also in the process of developing additional efficiency indicators.

The Department’s Audit Committee, which has been monitoring the issue of efficiency indicators 
since Auditor-General’s Special Report No. 92, Public sector productivity: a ten-year comparison, 
has been informed about this matter.

John Whittington

Acting Secretary

Department of Health and Human Services

The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) welcomes the key performance indicator 
trial project recommendations on efficiency indicators. The further development of appropriate 
efficiency indicators is a priority for DHHS.

DHHS appreciates the cautions expressed by the Tasmanian Audit Office and their advice that this 
is a trial project. Nevertheless, DHHS is very pleased with the progress the Tasmanian Audit Office 
has made in what is a complex and often difficult task. 

Work to develop good quality measures of efficiency is expensive and often needs to overcome 
considerable technical and measurement challenges. The Stats Matter initiative and national 
initiatives, such as work to develop hospital efficiency measures under the National Performance 
and Accountability Framework, help to mobilise the expertise needed for this work and to share the 
burden of resourcing this work.
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The Department does not have any instant solutions to overcome this deficiency in performance 
reporting and acknowledges the current state of affairs means there is a lack of efficiency measures 
of sufficient validity and meaningfulness for inclusion in important official documents, such as the 
Budget and Annual Reports. The Department would welcome the opportunity to participate in a 
broader government program to improve measures of efficiency, including their initial publication 
in a research context. Such work might be progressed collaboratively through the Stats Matter 
program.

Ambulance Tasmania

The following efficiency measures will be more suitably applied to Ambulance Tasmania:

	 i)	 Cost per patient treated

	 ii)	 Cost per capita

Both of these measures:

•	 compare outputs against cost – rather than inputs and

•	 are used (tailored for the particular reporting area) in other areas of your report e.g. 
education cost per student, justice cost per prisoner etc.

The nominal and real cost figures used in these charts have been taken from your report. A range 
of indices are available to inflate past dollars to present value – the CPI used in your report is not 
necessarily the most appropriate to use when analysing ambulance expenditure. If more time 
were available we could go through some of the options with you – particularly that used by 
the Productivity Commission in the Emergency Services section of the Report on Government 
Services. 

The Report should acknowledge for Ambulance Tasmania, as it is for Education, that these 
indicators have no quality dimension. If more time was available Ambulance Tasmania could assist 
with the development of quality and effectiveness KPIs.

And finally - reference is made in the report to developing indictors for the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service (RFDS).

The Royal Flying Doctor Service provides a contracted service to Ambulance Tasmania.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service should not be included in any Tasmanian Government efficiency 
report.

Housing Tasmania

The attachment ‘Reporting Key Performance Indicators – Trial Project’ includes a demonstration 
of a measure of efficiency for Housing Tasmania - Recurrent Maintenance Costs per Dwelling.

Whilst this is a cost measure, it is not an ideal measure of efficiency. Housing Tasmania has 
significant deferred maintenance costs due to an ageing and misaligned stock portfolio. It is not 
ideal that maintenance costs are reduced, and this may not be possible over time without significant 
capital investment in realignment of the portfolio.

The Report outlines other possible indicators for reporting could include:

•	 Annual Potential Rental Income per Dwelling

•	 Annual Tenant Contribution per Dwelling

•	 Direct Property Cost per Dwelling

•	 Operating Cost per Dwelling.
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Housing Tasmania proposes that good Key Performance Indicators that demonstrate efficiency 
include:

•	 Net recurrent cost per dwelling

○○ This is a measure of cost effectiveness and efficiency.

○○ It is also a measure of sustainability of the service model.

○○ This figure has been declining over time and reflects positive performance by the 
Department.

•	 Average time to house priority applicants

○○ This is an indicator of service delivery efficiency for housing people most in need.

•	 Rent collection rate

○○ This is an indicator of efficiency in terms of rental collection and appropriate arrears 
management.

Matthew Daly

Secretary

Department of Justice

The Secretary has advised the Auditor-General that he supports the intent of the trial and that he 
continues to explore improvements to information reported.

Simon Overland

Secretary

Department of Police and Emergency Management

Thank you for your letter of 2 April 2014 inviting comment on the Trial Project being carried out 
by the Tasmanian Audit Office. The Department of Police and Emergency Management (DPEM) 
welcomes this initiative. The Department strongly supports the development of suitable measures of 
efficiency of service delivery and performance. 

The initial measure proposed by the Audit Office is Expenditure on Police Services per Person.  
This measure is similar to one developed by the Australian Government Productivity Commission 
and Published in the Report on Government Services (ROGS), although a different formula 
is used. The measure is not currently used as a performance indicator by DPEM because it is a 
measure of cost only and does not include a consideration of the outputs and outcomes achieved 
from the expenditure incurred. 

The measure is also greatly affected by Government policy in relation to staff numbers. The 
reduction in expenditure since 2010 is probably largely explained by the Government policy of 
reducing police and state service numbers. The cessation of payroll tax from October 2012 also 
contributed to the reduction. It is anticipated that the expenditure will rise in the near future as a 
result of the incoming Government’s policy of increasing police numbers. The fall and expected 
rise are not indicators of any change in Departmental efficiency or performance.

Two additional indicators are proposed by the Audit Office but they also have difficulties associated 
with them:

Hourly costs to provide various police services – This indicator would be useful but very difficult to 
obtain. The services provided by Police and Emergency Services are extremely varied and therefore 
difficult to define or measure.  
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Hours of operation is probably the only measure of services that could be determined without a 
large amount of additional effort but it is a  measure of activity and not a measure of output or 
outcome. It would not be a true measure of efficiency or performance.

Average cost per investigation – This indicator would be heavily influenced by the size of the 
investigations performed as they vary considerably. In a larger jurisdiction, the average size of 
investigations could be assumed to be roughly constant over time but that assumption could not 
be made in Tasmania where there are a small number of large investigations each year that cause 
considerable annual fluctuation in the average size of investigations . As these large investigations 
are of considerable importance to public safety, it would be undesirable to reduce the relative effort 
applied to them even though they adversely affect the average cost per investigation.

I appreciate the value of a good performance measurement framework in monitoring and managing 
the Department effectively and our framework is reviewed each year. While there are difficulties 
with the indicators as proposed in this report, I will ensure that the suggestions of the Audit Office 
are considered when the framework is next reviewed. 

D L Hine 

Commissioner of Police

Department of Economic Development, Tourism and the Arts

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Auditor-General’s draft report on Reporting 
Key Performance Indicators – trial project. The Department supports the recommendation noting 
the need to identify and report suitable outcome based indicators of efficiency and effectiveness and 
that doing so is important in assessing accountability.    

The indicator proposed in the draft report – Average cost per visitor to the State – seems like a 
reasonable starting point but covers only a small part of the Department’s overall activities. We look 
forward to working with the Auditor-General in developing appropriate indicators once structural 
changes occurring currently are finalised and as part of setting objectives for the new Department 
of State Growth.   

Jonathan Wood on behalf of Kim Evans

Acting Secretary
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disposal of firearms and ammunition

SNAPSHOT
•	 The Firearms Act 1996 requires the Auditor-General to arrange for an independent audit 

of all firearms or ammunition disposed of under that Act and to table in both Houses of 
Parliament a report on the audit.

•	 We found the actual processes and control activities leading to the disposal of firearms to be 
appropriate and based on our audit work we concluded the requirements of the Firearms Act 
1996  in relation to the disposal of firearms were complied with. 

•	 The current practice of recording the quantity of ammunition was inadequate and we were 
not able to conclude on compliance with the Firearms Act 1996 in relation to the disposal of 
ammunition.  

•	 We made the following recommendations to the DPEM:

○○ it should review its current processes with the view to implementing a practical 
control over the recording of ammunition, which would address the risk of 
ammunition being inadvertently misplaced or lost through theft or fraud

○○ it should develop formal policies and procedures which would address all activities 
leading to the disposal of firearms and ammunition 

○○ it should ensure that controls around the disposal of firearms and ammunition are 
monitored through a combination of ongoing activities and separate evaluations. 

introduction
All aspects of gun ownership in Tasmania were tightened up in the Firearms Act 1996 (the Act) that 
replaced the earlier and less stringent Guns Act 1991 and Guns Amendment Acts 1993 and 1996.

Section 149 of the Act requires the Auditor-General to arrange for an independent audit, to be 
carried out once every year, of all firearms or ammunition disposed of under the Act and to table in 
both Houses of Parliament a report on the audit.  

The DPEM is charged with the responsibility for disposal of firearms and ammunition under the 
Act. Firearms destruction encompasses not only firearms and ammunition, but also knives and 
other weapons. There are several ways by which weapons are seized, but most weapons are handed 
in by their owners. Section 129 of the Act provides for a permanent amnesty when firearms are 
voluntarily surrendered.   

Authority to dispose
Firearms and ammunition surrendered or seized under the Act can be disposed of under an order 
from a magistrate. A magistrate may also order that a firearm or ammunition be forfeited to 
the Crown. Following an amendment to the Act in 2007, the Minister was given discretion to 
determine the form of disposal if the magistrate’s order to forfeit the firearm or ammunition to the 
Crown was made because of a breach of safekeeping provisions in the Act. The DPEM obtained a 
continuing delegation from the Minister that all firearms and ammunition forfeited to the Crown 
for firearms offences or by court order be destroyed, unless:

•	 the firearm and/or ammunition is required by the Ballistics Library for evidentiary purposes

•	 an application is received from the owner for the return of a firearm or ammunition.  
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What does ‘disposed of’ mean?
The Act does not define what ‘disposal’ means. The Macquarie Dictionary defines disposal as ‘the act of 
disposing of ’, which means ‘to get rid of ’. The Act does not prevent the sale of firearms or ammunition 
if the Minister determines that it is an appropriate method of disposal. However, it is our view that the 
sale of surrendered or seized firearms and ammunition is not in keeping with the spirit of the Act and 
the prevention of violence and self-harm in general. We have therefore accepted the view that ‘disposed 
of ’, unless otherwise authorised, means physical destruction.

Audit Objective
The objective of the audit is to provide independent assurance to the Parliament and community that 
the process of disposing of firearms and ammunition is managed in compliance with the Act.

audit of compliance with the act
Assessment of Control Framework
The destruction of firearms and ammunition is managed by Firearms Services, a unit within the 
Operations Support division of DPEM. As part of the audit, we reviewed procedures and made 
enquiries of relevant personnel in the unit to obtain an understanding of activities which lead to the 
physical destruction of firearms and ammunition. We also visited a destruction site and observed 
firearms being destroyed. 

We found the actual processes and control activities leading to the disposal of firearms to be appropriate. 

Ammunition is handled in the same way as firearms. However, we found that there is no prescribed unit 
of measure (for example number of cartridges or their weight) used to record and track the quantities 
of ammunition handed in or seized and then disposed. The current practice of recording the quantity 
of ammunition varies, which increases the risk that ammunition could inadvertently be misplaced or 
lost through theft or fraud without this being detected. Accordingly, our procedures with respect to the 
disposal of ammunition were restricted and as a result we are unable to report whether all ammunition 
surrendered or seized under the Act (or other legislation) was disposed of in accordance with the Act (or 
other legislation). 

We recommend that the DPEM reviews its current processes with the view to implementing a 
practical control over the recording of ammunition, which would address the risk of ammunition being 
inadvertently misplaced or lost through theft or fraud.

We also found that the control framework was deficient in the following areas:

•	 	There are no documented policies and procedures. 

•	 	There was a lack of monitoring controls. Monitoring is an important element of any risk 
management framework. It provides feedback to management on whether the controls they 
designed to mitigate risks continue to be fit for purpose, are property implemented and 
understood by employees and being used and complied with. Monitoring also assists those 
charged with governance in discharging their compliance responsibilities. 

We recommend that DPEM:

•	 	develops formal policies and procedures which address all activities leading to the disposal of 
firearms and ammunition 

•	 	ensures that controls around the disposal of firearms and ammunition are monitored through a 
combination of ongoing activities and separate evaluations. 
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Management responses
A copy of this Chapter was provided to the Department for comment and response. The Department’s full response 
is provided. The comments and submissions provided were not subject to the audit nor the evidentiary standards 
required in reaching an audit conclusion. Responsibility for the accuracy, fairness and balance of these comments rests 
solely with the Department.

The DPEM acknowledges the recommendations contained in the report of the Auditor-General and will review 
current processes in relation to the recording of ammunition seized, surrendered or forfeited to police to ensure that 
the risk of ammunition being misplaced through loss, theft or fraud is further minimised.

The DPEM will review its existing policies and guidelines and implement measures to ensure that further direction is 
provided to staff involved in the disposal of firearms and ammunition.

The DPEM will ensure that controls around the disposal of firearms and ammunition continue to be monitored 
through ongoing activities, separate evaluations and management review.

 

Accuracy of Information on Firearms and Ammunition Disposed
Firearms Services maintain records of all weapons (includes firearms, crossbows and parts of firearms) and ammunition 
surrendered or seized and processed. Annual statistics on firearms received for disposal, disposed of and held for 
disposal are published in the DPEM’s annual report. 

We are required to audit firearms or ammunition disposed of under the Act. Firearms and ammunition come into 
police possession through a variety of means and the way they are dealt with depends on the requirement of the 
specific legislation. In some cases, the receipt of a weapon and its subsequent disposal can be dealt under different acts. 
We were unable to accurately separate firearms disposed under the Act from firearms disposed under other legislation. 
Accordingly, we are unable to report the number of firearms and ammunition disposed specifically under the Act. 
Instead, we report the total number of firearms and ammunition disposed under the Act and other legislation. Table 1 
below summarises firearms and ammunition disposed of under various pieces of legislation, not just the Act. 

Table 1: Firearms and ammunition disposed of in financial years ended 30 June 2009 to 30 June 2013

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13

F A F A F A F A F A

Held as at beginning of year  0  0  0  0  0  1  2  1  1  1

Received 1 227  450 1 274  327 1 097  366 1 100  409 1 585  337

Total Held 1 227  450 1 274  327 1 097  367 1 102  410 1 586  338

Destroyed 1 220  20 1 269  326 1 076  366 1 093  409 1 543  337

Returned to owner  0  0  0  0  2  0  0  0  1  0
Transferred to Ballistics 
Reference Library  7  430  5  0  17  0  8  0  30  0
Donated to museums etc. for 
display  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0

Total Disposed 1 227  450 1 274  326 1 095  366 1 101  409 1 574  337

Held as at End of Year  0  0  0  1  2  1  1  1  12  1

F - Firearms, A - Ammunition

Note: Figures may differ from those published in the DPEM’s annual reports as a result of our audit.

Conclusion as to compliance with the Act
Based on the audit procedures performed, we concluded the DPEM complied with the requirements of the Act in 
relation to the disposal of firearms. We were unable to conclude on the DPEM’s compliance with the Act in relation to 
the disposal of ammunition.  
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timeliness and quality of financial 
statements

SNAPSHOT
•	 In the 2012-13 financial audit cycle, nine State entities failed to submit their financial 

statements for audit within the statutory deadline of 45 days from the end of the financial 
year. 

•	 One set of financial statements submitted for audit was rejected.

•	 On the whole the quality of financial reports initially submitted was of a high standard.

STATUTORY FINANCIAL REPORTING AND AUDITING TIMING 
REQUIREMENTS
Under section 17 of the Audit Act 2008 (the Audit Act) specific dates are set by when accountable 
authorities of State entities are to provide financial statements to the Auditor-General to formally 
allow the audit process to commence. The requirement is that financial statements are submitted for 
audit within 45 days after the end of the financial year.  

Our responsibility under section 19 of the Audit Act is to complete our audit within 45 days of 
receiving financial statements from State entities. In most cases, entities have a 30 June financial 
year-end making 15 August (this will be 14 August in 2013-14) the statutory date by which 
financial statements are to be submitted with our deadline 30 September (this will be  
28 September in 2013-14). For entities with a 31 December financial year-end, the statutory 
deadline for submitting their financial statements to the Auditor-General is 15 February (this will 
be 14 February in 2015). The deadline for completing those audits is 31 March (this will continue 
to be 31 March in 2015). 

These dates were set to allow sufficient time for audits to be completed and for accountable 
authorities to prepare annual reports for tabling in Parliament. 

Listed below are entities whose signed financial statements were not received by the statutory 
deadline of 45 days from the end of the financial year. The list includes all State entities, not just the 
entities covered by this Report, for the financial years ended 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2013. 
Dates shown in brackets represent the date signed financial statements were received:

•	 Financial year end 30 June 2013:

○○ Cradle Coast Authority (14 October 2013)

○○ Dulverton Regional Waste Management Authority (22 August 2013)

○○ Glamorgan-Spring Bay Council (30 August 2013)

○○ Latrobe Council (21 August 2013)

○○ Legal Aid Commission of Tasmania (17 September 2013)

○○ National Trust of Australia (Tasmania) (27 September 2013)

○○ Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens (30 August 2013)

○○ Tasmanian Affordable Housing Limited (30 October 2013)

○○ WorkCover Tasmania Board (20 August 2013).

These entities were reminded of their obligation to report within the prescribed deadline in future.  

•	 Financial year end 31 December – all State entities reporting at 31 December submitted their 
financial statements on time.
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STEPS TAKEN BY AUDIT TO FACILITATE EARLIER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING
We continue to assist State entities to achieve early financial reporting. This is done in a number of ways 
including:

•	 where possible early planning of audits. As part of planning audits discussions are held with 
management, and where relevant those charged with governance, and agreements reached on 
financial reporting and auditing timeframes. These agreements are always aimed at completion 
within statutory reporting deadlines

•	 preparation of detailed completion plans for components of the financial statements

•	 where financial systems allow, conducting audit testing of selected balances prior to balance date 
thus minimising work post balance date. 

COMPLIANCE WITH FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Audit Act requires all State entities to prepare financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. In some cases, in particular for smaller State entities, we accepted preparation of 
Specific Purpose Financial Reports (SPFR). There were no instances where these standards were not 
complied with or where SPFR failed to satisfy our requirements.

QUALITY OF FINANCIAL REPORTING
Section 17 of the Audit Act also provides for the Auditor-General to determine whether signed 
financial statements submitted are complete in all material respects. Upon receipt of signed financial 
statements we immediately review and evaluate them utilising a checklist, to ensure they are complete 
and presentation complied with Australian Accounting Standards. We also confirm the accuracy of 
comparatives, cross references and ensure the statements are arithmetically correct. 

During the 2012-13 financial reporting cycle, only one set of financial statements submitted for audit 
was rejected. This indicates that on the whole the quality of financial reports initially submitted was of a 
high standard.
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findings from 2013 audits

SNAPSHOT
•	 In excess of 330 audit matters were raised, with recommendations made to 70 State entities 

during the 2012-13 financial audit cycle.

•	 The majority of matters raised related to non-current physical assets, expenditure and 
accounts payable, employee expenses, information systems, revenue and receivables and Cash 
and financing.

•	 The use of residual values for long-lived infrastructure assets in local government councils 
were reviewed by an independent expert and reported in Report of the Auditor-General  
No. 5 2013-14 Infrastructure Financial Accounting in Local Government tabled in December 
2013. The Report concluded that the manner in which some local government councils 
used residual values did not comply with accounting standards. That report made 23 
recommendations relating to long-lived infrastructure management.

•	 A significant change to 2013-14 financial reporting requirements includes the new Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. 

•	 The use of cloud computing by a State entity appeared to provide efficiencies, but there were 
aspects of the application that were unknown by the entity. We recommended completion of 
full risk assessments prior to implementing this product.

INTRODUCTION 
The comments in this Chapter apply to our audits of all State entities, not just the entities covered 
by this Report, for the financial years ended 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2013. In this Chapter 
we refer to these periods as the 2012-13 financial audit cycle.

AUDIT MATTERS
We identified in excess of 330 audit matters and made recommendations to 70 State entities during 
the 2012-13 financial audit cycle. We communicate all weaknesses identified during an audit to 
management at an appropriate level of responsibility. Significant matters are detailed in a written 
report, which also includes our recommendations for improvements and management responses. 
The report is then communicated to those charged with governance, for example the Secretary, 
chairperson of the Board of Directors or Mayor, with a copy sent to the responsible minister. 

We also report significant matters to Parliament in Auditor-General’s Reports on the Financial 
Statements of State entities.

We categorise each matter as high, moderate or low risk, depending on its potential impact, as 
shown in the following table.
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Table 2: Risk categories for audit findings

Risk Category Client Impact

High •	 Matters which pose a significant business or financial risk to the 
entity. 

•	 Matters that have resulted or could potentially result in a 
modified or qualified audit opinion if not addressed as a matter 
of urgency by the entity.

Moderate •	 Matters of a systemic nature that pose a moderate business or 
financial risk to the entity if not addressed as high priority 
within the current financial year.

•	 Matters that may escalate to high risk if not addressed promptly. 

•	 Low risk matters which have been reported to management in 
the past but have not been satisfactorily resolved or addressed.

Low •	 Matters that are isolated, non-systemic or procedural in nature. 

•	 Matters that reflect relatively minor administrative shortcomings 
and could be addressed in the context of the entity’s overall 
control environment

Source: Integrated Public Sector Audit Methodology

Matters raised by category of risk
Figure 13 below provides a breakdown of matters raised during the 2012-13 financial audit cycle by the 
risk categories outlined in Table 2.

Figure 13: Matters Raised by Risk Category

Source: Tasmanian Audit Office

Figure 13 shows that the majority of matters, 50%, were categorised as moderate, posing a moderate 
business or financial risk to the entity, but which may escalate to high risk status if not addressed 
promptly. 7% of matters were assessed as high risk. High risk matters pose a significant business or 
financial risk to the entity and could potentially result in a modified or qualified audit opinion if not 
addressed as a matter of urgency by the entity. Such issues included the use of residuals in valuing long-

High

Moderate

Low
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lived infrastructure assets, valuations not being kept up to date, insufficient evidence to support asset 
valuations, authorisation of credit card transactions, information systems access and management, 
Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT) payment access and authorisation, compliance with legislative 
requirements for tendering, inadequate segregation of duties and weaknesses in internal controls. 

Management action
The majority of matters reported to management or those charged with governance are generally 
resolved or management have agreed to undertake corrective actions. 

‘Undertaking corrective action’ means that the issue had not been satisfactorily resolved at the 
time the audit is finalised, but management is implementing, or has agreed to implement, our 
recommendation or an alternative resolution. These issues include such items as internal control 
weaknesses that cannot be readily rectified. Such items may require further management reviews, 
procedural modifications or policy changes. In these cases we follow-up those matters in subsequent 
audits to ensure they have been adequately addressed. 

‘Resolved’ means that management had successfully implemented a corrective action. These issues 
include such items as readily rectifiable control weaknesses, account mis-classification, presentation 
and general financial statement items or issues reported in previous years which had been rectified in 
the current year.

Where management disagree with a finding or, in our view, the corrective action proposed by 
management does not adequately address the matter, we categorise the finding as ‘unresolved’. In such 
a situation, we still report the matter and management response to those charged with governance in 
the year when it came to our attention. We then adapt our audit plan to address the risk of financial 
statements being misstated due to the identified weakness.  

We consider all matters raised with management in the following year as part of a risk assessment 
when planning an audit. Where issues are corrected, this is noted and not raised again in a subsequent 
year, although we may perform audit testing to confirm this.  

MATTERS RAISED BY TYPE
To assist us in the identification of trends and management of audit risks, we categorise issues raised 
according to their type and the system they relate to. Figure 2 depicts issues raised by the most 
common types or systems during the 2010-11, 2011-12 and 2012-13 financial audit cycles and includes 
all audit findings – high, moderate and low risk. 

Figure 14: Matters by Type

Source: Tasmanian Audit Office
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Information Systems (21%)
Matters raised centred on deficiencies in policy frameworks governing information systems, 
such as user access rights and management, application monitoring, password sharing and change 
management. Other matters raised in this area related mainly to the management of user access and 
insufficient segregation of duties of administrator or super users. Lack of security, disaster recovery 
and continuity plans in some entities continued to be of concern. 

The significant increase in matters during 2012-13 was primarily due to a change in our internal 
information system program, with the majority of matters being identified in medium to small 
entities. 

Expenditure and Accounts Payable (18%)
Matters raised in this area related mainly to:

•	 the absence of appropriate authorisation of transactions

•	 missing supporting documentation

•	 lack of adequate segregation of non-compatible duties.

A number of matters were raised over controls and authorisation of corporate credit card 
expenditure. In particular, credit cards held by management. There is a risk that expenditure 
on credit cards may not directly relate to business activities and all entities need to ensure they 
implement strict controls over their use.

Non-Current Physical Assets (12%)
For non-current physical assets the key matters raised were in relation to appropriate and timely 
valuations and the application of residual values to long-lived infrastructure assets. This remains a 
key area of concern because lack of timely valuations and inaccurate information can lead to wrong 
decisions with potentially long-term implications.

Other matters included a lack of policies relating to valuation models, errors in the calculation of 
depreciation, variances between subsidiary asset registers and general ledger control accounts and 
asset registers being maintained on spreadsheets.  

Cash and Financing (10%)
A major matter in this area related to controls over the on-line banking systems used for electronic 
funds transfer. In particular, access and authorisation privileges to the on-line system, including:

•	 export files can be amended before disbursement

•	 one officer having the ability to authorise payment from a bank account

•	 multiple access users, which included terminated staff.

Other matters included the timely completion of bank reconciliations and the lack of review by a 
person independent from the preparer.

Employee Expenses (8%)
Matters identified in this category highlighted control weaknesses in payroll processing, errors in 
calculations of leave provisions and termination payments, and excessive leave balances.

Revenue and Receivables (7%)
Matters in this area included:

•	 the absence of timely reconciliations between receivables subsidiary ledgers and the general 
ledger

•	 absence of independent reconciliations over cash collection
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•	 the determination of impairment provisions

•	 lack of processes and/or controls over revenue completeness.

 Other Matters
Other matters included:

•	 general journals lacked supporting documentation and were not independently authorised

•	 annual reports did not include our audit report

•	 late submission of financial statements

•	 the calculation of remediation and aftercare provisions

•	 risk registers and management frameworks not current.

MATTERS WHICH IMPACT MULTIPLE ENTITIES AND EMERGING 
ISSUES
Matters arising which impacted, or could potentially impact, multiple entities and emerging issues 
are summarised here.

Valuation of Non-Current Physical Assets
The majority of issues identified in this area related to appropriate and timely valuation of land and 
buildings. As we have stated in previous reports, it is our view that fair value is the most relevant 
measurement for long-lived non-current physical assets. Fair value can be determined by reference 
to market based evidence or in its absence, an income approach or a depreciated replacement cost 
basis. In any case, entities should ensure that carrying amounts keep pace with prevailing market 
conditions, cost of construction etc. This can be achieved through periodic assessments by a 
qualified valuer.

Accounting standards require entities measuring assets at fair value to carry out revaluations with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which 
would be determined using fair value at reporting date. While it is not practical or cost effective for 
all entities to revalue assets annually, the application of appropriate indices in intervening periods 
between formal valuations can ensure compliance with the requirements of accounting standards. 
Other ways to manage the cost of valuations include implementation of revaluations on a rolling 
basis (provided revaluation of the class of assets is completed within a short period and provided the 
revaluations are kept up to date) or to value representative samples from a population of assets.

Another issue in this area is the use of residual values for long-lived infrastructure assets. As 
indicated in Report No. 4 of 2012-13 an independent expert was appointed to review approaches to 
road assets valuation and depreciation by local government councils. The outcomes of this review 
were reported in Report of the Auditor-General No. 5 2013-14 Infrastructure Financial Accounting in 
Local Government tabled in December 2013. The Report included 23 recommendations, including:

•	 Residual values for property, plant and equipment assets be recognised only where the 
estimated amount to be received from disposal of the asset is greater than the cost of disposal 
of the asset.

•	 Assets should be recognised at cost based on a modern equivalent asset.

•	 Donated or contributed assets should be recognised at fair value in accordance with 
Accounting Standards.

•	 Periodic revaluations of infrastructure assets should be based on the amount required 
currently to replace the service capacity of the asset.

•	 Assets subject to planned ‘optimal’ renewal methods be componentised to recognise the 
different useful lives estimated for each part of the asset.

•	 The componentised assets be revalued as modern equivalent assets being the cost that is 
required currently to replace the service capacity of an asset.
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Revised financial reporting standards
For the 2013-14 financial reporting period, there are some significant changes to reporting 
requirements in the public sector. A key change arising from the new Australian Accounting 
Standard AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement is in relation to the reporting of assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value. The impacts of the new standard are disclosed in the Chapter headed: 
Accounting and Auditing Standards – Developments in Financial Reporting.

Cloud Computing
During the year, an issue was raised in relation to the need for a full risk assessment on business 
data security and business continuity at a State entity using a ‘cloud based’ accounting package. We 
observed that the new product was providing efficiencies to the entity, but there were some aspects 
of the ‘cloud based’ application that were unknown.

We expect, in the future, other entities will examine the possibility of using ‘cloud based’ 
accounting packages and suggest:

•	 a full assessment of the risks associated with the product

•	 a review of the terms and conditions (service level agreement) to ensure an entity is not 
exposed to any unacceptable risk.
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grant acquittal audits

SNAPSHOT
•	 The Auditor-General is responsible for audits of numerous grant acquittal financial 

statements. These audits are carried out in addition to audits of the annual financial 
statements of State entities.

•	 An audit of the State claim to the Australian Government under the Natural Disaster Relief 
and Recovery Arrangements for costs incurred relating to the January 2013 bushfires was 
completed on 8 April 2014. 

INTRODUCTION
In addition to audits of the financial statement of State entities, we also perform various grant 
acquittal audits. The purpose of these audits varies depending on the terms of each funding 
agreement although they are normally aimed at giving fund providers a reasonable level of 
assurance that:

•	 funding was expended in accordance with the funding agreement 

•	 the acquittal report is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with specified financial 
reporting requirements.

AUDITS COMPLETED
In the 2012-13 year, we issued audit opinions on numerous grant acquittal financial statements. 
Examples are:

•	 Roads to Recovery Program funding received by local government councils

•	 projects such as Fox Free Tasmania, Eradication of Rabbits and Rodents on Macquarie Island  
and Aboriginal Trainee Ranger Program for which funding was received by the Department 
of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and Environment from the Australian Government

•	 funding received by the three regional water corporations under the Water Metering 
Tasmania program towards the roll-out of water meters across the State. 

Financial Assistance under National Disaster Relief and Recovery 
Arrangements
Following the January 2013 bushfires, effected local government councils sought financial 
assistance for infrastructure restoration, clean-up and other costs under the State Natural Disaster 
Relief and Recovery Arrangements. It is a requirement that each claim must be audited and we 
have completed audits of all claims submitted to us by local government councils.

At the national level, States are eligible for assistance from the Australian Government under the 
Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (NDRRA). The States are also required to 
have their claims independently audited. In 2012-13, Tasmania’s claim for assistance in connection 
with floods that occurred in the previous year totalled $7.237m. The actual expenditure totalled 
$21.704m and related mainly to the cost of repairs to roads and bridges. We issued our audit report 
on the claim on 17 January 2013. 

In 2013-14, Tasmania claimed for assistance in connection with the January 2013 bushfires. Eligible 
expenditure incurred by the State in respect of this natural disaster totalled $36.792m, of which 
$13.787m will be paid by the Commonwealth under the NDRRA. We issued an unqualified audit 
report on the claim on 8 April 2014.
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basis for setting audit fees

snapshot
•	 Fees, and the accountable authority liable to pay the fee for financial audits, are determined 

by the Auditor-General pursuant to section 27 of the Audit Act 2008.

•	 The basis for setting fees is to be described in a report to Parliament dealing with the results 
of financial audits of State entities. This Chapter fulfils that requirement. 

•	 Fees are set for each State entity commensurate with the size, complexity and risks of the 
engagement.

•	 Charge rates are based on the principle of the Office being able to recover its costs of 
operation. Charge rates comprise two parts, direct salary cost and overhead recovery.

•	 Fees are determined on the basis of no material change to State entities’ operations or other 
factors affecting engagement risk.

•	 Where circumstances surrounding the engagement have materially changed, additional audit 
fees may be sought from the State entity.

•	 	A matrix (audit fee scale) has been developed to provide a guide for determining the 
expected time to be taken on an audit. The level of fee, and any change, experienced by 
individual State entities may vary according to individual circumstances and the risks each 
entity faces.

•	 In certain circumstances, we may need to use staff with specialist skills in order to review 
specific local issues. Where this is the case, it can result in higher costs being incurred which 
may be added to the fee determined by the Auditor-General.

BACKGROUND
Section 27 of the Audit Act 2008 (Audit Act) provides that:

	 ‘(1) 	 The Auditor-General is to determine whether a fee is to be charged for an audit carried out 	
		  by the Auditor-General under this Division and, if so – 

			   (a) 	 the amount of that fee; and

			   (b)	 the accountable authority liable to pay that fee.’

In relation to the tabling of Auditor-General’s reports on audits of the financial statements of State 
entities the Audit Act also requires the following at section 29(3):

	 ‘(3) 	 A report under subsection (1) is to describe the basis on which audit fees are calculated.’

To comply with section 29(3), the basis for setting audit fees for conducting audits of the financial 
statements of State Entities is detailed in this Chapter. Audit fees are not charged for performance 
audits, compliance audits or investigations.

DETERMINATION
We have determined that an audit fee will be charged for the audits of the financial statements of all 
State entities other than the University of Tasmanian Foundation Inc. 

http://www.thelaw.tas.gov.au/tocview/content.w3p;cond=;doc_id=49%2B%2B2008%2BGS29%2FGs1%2FEN%2B20090424000000;histon=;prompt=;rec=;term=#GS29@Gs1@EN


52 Basis for Setting Audit Fees

PRINCIPLE FOR AUDIT FEE DETERMINATION
Fees are set for each State entity commensurate with the size, complexity and risks of the engagement. 
These factors affect the mix of staff we assign to each audit and therefore the overall fee. Staff are 
assigned hourly charge rates for use in determining the allocation of work on the audit and in 
computing the fee.

There is an expectation that audits of similar complexity and risks will have a similar mix of staff.

PRINCIPLE FOR DETERMINING CHARGE RATES
Charge rates are based on the principle of the Office being able to recover its costs of operation.  
Charge rates comprise two parts, direct salary cost and overhead recovery. Direct travel time and costs 
attributable to each audit are billed separately and do not form part of our charge rates. 

BASIS OF FEES
Fees are calculated on the basis that:

•	 current accounting systems will be operating throughout the year with a satisfactory appraisal of 
internal control

•	 no errors or issues requiring significant additional audit work will be encountered

•	 the standard period-end general ledger reconciliations will be available at the commencement of 
our year-end audit

•	 assistance for our staff will be provided with respect to reasonable requests for additional 
schedules and analysis throughout the audit

•	 agreed timetables will be met within reason, particularly with regards to the preparation of the 
financial statements

•	 the financial statements presented for audit are complete and do not require ongoing changes/
adjustments

•	 additional work (including new accounting standards or issues associated with key risks and other 
matters arising) will be billed separately if it cannot be absorbed into the existing fee

•	 the nature of the entity’s business and scale of operations will be similar to that of the previous 
financial year

•	 fees incorporate financial statement disclosure and other specific audit related advice.

ADDITIONAL AUDIT FEES
If the circumstances outlined under the section headed ‘Basis of Fees’ change in a year, we would seek 
additional fees from the entity. Any future impact of agreed additional fees would be assessed in terms of 
the ongoing audit fee.

ADJUSTMENT TO FEES
Fees may be adjusted in the following circumstances:

•	 changes to the size and nature of the entity and its operations

•	 changes to the risks associated with a particular engagement

•	 changes to accounting and auditing standards requiring greater effort on our part

•	 unavoidable increases in costs of maintaining our Office.
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There may also be circumstances where, based on our assessment of size, complexity and risks of 
the engagement, our fees may be reduced. Fees may also take into account our assessment of the 
relevance to our audits of work conducted by internal auditors. 

In all cases, fees are communicated to each accountable authority prior to audit commencement or 
during the planning phase. 

TRANSPARENCY OF INDIVIDUAL AUDIT FEES
We have chosen to make the fee setting process for individual State entities transparent. As a 
consequence, our staff are now required to explain:

•	 the specific factors taken into account in proposing the fee (particularly the risk assessment)

•	 the assumptions upon which the fee is based in terms of, for example, the standard of the 
entity’s control environment, coverage of internal audit, quality of working papers and so on

•	 what is included in the fee and what is not included

•	 what specific actions the client could take to reduce the level of its audit fee in the future

•	 the processes for agreeing additional fees if circumstances change or the assumptions upon 
which the fee is based are not met.

AUDIT FEE SCALES
A matrix (audit fee scale) has been developed to provide a guide for determining the expected time 
to be taken on an audit. The scales are based on the following key variables:

•	 the size of the entity based on its expected gross turnover. This was used to determine the 
base amount of time required to conduct the audit. Turnover was based on the client’s actual 
income and expenditure for the preceding financial year, adjusted for any known factors 
(fixed element).

•	 the risk and complexity profiles for each entity determined by our staff. These profiles 
include the corporate structure, complexity of systems, operations and financial statement 
reporting requirements. The time bands applied range from 40 per cent below to 40 per cent 
above the base time (variable element).

The fee scales take account of:

•	 changes to Australian Auditing or Accounting Standards

•	 in some cases, particularly audits returning from contract, a change in scope of work 
being performed in line with our audit approach whereby selected probity matters will be 
considered during the course of all audits.
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Fee scales are as follow:

Turnover* Base hours
Variable 

component

<$100 000 15 +/-40%

$101 000 to $1.5m 30 +/-40%

$1.5m to $10m 100 +/-40%

$10m to $55m 155 +/-40%

$55m to $121m 270 +/-40%

$121m to $200m 460 +/-40%

$200m to $410m 610 +/-40%

$410m to $1bn 830 +/-40%

>$1bn 1 350 +/-40%

* may be adjusted in line with CPI movements.

Bandings are based on current cost experience in conducting audits.

After applying the above model, the hours to undertake the audit are allocated according to the 
staff mix necessary to conduct the audit. The respective staff charge rates are then applied to the 
allocated hours so as to determine a dollar amount (the audit fee). Where applicable, travel and 
other direct costs (out of pocket expenses) are added to the audit fee on a full cost recovery basis. 

FEE SETTING
It is emphasised that the fee scales only provide a framework within which we set the actual fees 
charged to individual State entities. 

The level of fee, and any change, experienced by individual State entities will therefore vary 
according to local circumstances and the risks each entity faces. 

In certain circumstances, for example where a State entity faces a particular challenge to manage 
high risks or there are particular local circumstances, a fee may fall outside the noted bands. 
In these cases, the audit fee will be determined in discussion between our staff and entity 
management, to reflect our assessment of risk and the extent and complexity of the audit work 
required.

SKILL-RELATED FEE SCALES
In certain circumstances, we may need to use staff or contractors with specialist skills in order 
to review specific local issues. Where this is the case, it can result in higher costs being incurred. 
In these circumstances, the fee to be charged will be determined in discussion between our staff 
and entity management and will reflect the size, complexity or any other particular difficulties in 
respect of the audit work required.

ADDITIONAL AUDIT WORK
In carrying out additional audit work, including government grant acquittals and other similar 
returns, we will recover, in respect of such work, an amount that covers the full cost of the relevant 
work undertaken.
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audits dispensed with

snapshot
•	 The Auditor-General has the authority to dispense with the audits of State entities but must 

consult with the Treasurer prior to such dispensation.

•	 Audits are dispensed with on the condition that the relevant State entity annually 
demonstrates appropriated financial reporting and the existence of appropriate alternative 
audit arrangements. 

•	 In 2012-13, 36 audits were dispensed.

INTRODUCTION
The Auditor-General has the discretion under the Audit Act to dispense with certain audits if 
considered appropriate in the circumstances. The dispensation is subject to conditions determined 
by the Auditor-General who has imposed the following conditions:

•	 that the entity must demonstrate to us that its financial reporting and auditing arrangements 
are appropriate. To satisfy this condition, the dispensed with audit entities are required 
to submit their audited financial statements to us each year. The financial statements 
are reviewed and, where necessary, feedback on information presented in the financial 
statements is provided to the entity or

•	 that the entity is a subsidiary of a State entity and whose financial transactions and balances 
are audited as part of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the 
controlling entity or

•	 grants made to a category of entities are properly managed under Treasurer’s Instruction 709 
‘Grant Management Framework’ (discussed further under the heading ‘Categories of audits and 
Non-Government Organisations’ later in this Chapter).

It is important to note that dispensation of the audit does not limit any of the Auditor-General’s 
functions or powers given under the Audit Act.

The Audit Act also requires the Auditor-General to consult with the Treasurer before exercising 
the power to dispense with audits. Following consultation with the Treasurer, the audits of the 
annual financial statements of the following specific audits or categories of audits were dispensed 
with:

Specific audits
Controlled Subsidiaries – Year Ended 30 June 2013 (controlling entity shown in brackets)

•	 Auroracom Pty Ltd (Aurora Energy Pty Ltd) 

•	 Bell Bay Three Pty Ltd (Hydro Tasmania)

•	 Devonport Maritime & Heritage Authority (Devonport City Council)

•	 Ezikey Group Pty Ltd (Aurora Energy Pty Ltd)

•	 Flinders Island Ports Corporation Pty Ltd (Tasmanian Ports Corporation Pty Ltd)

•	 Heemskirk Holdings Pty Ltd (Hydro Tasmania)

•	 Heemskirk Wind Farm Pty Ltd (Hydro Tasmania)

•	 Heritage Building Solutions Pty Ltd (Southern Midlands Council)

•	 Heritage Education & Skills Centre Pty Ltd (Southern Midlands Council)
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•	 HT Wind Developments Pty Ltd (Hydro Tasmania)

•	 HT Wind New Zealand Pty Ltd  (Hydro Tasmania)

•	 Hydro Tasmania Consulting (Holding) Pty Ltd

•	 Kingborough Waste Services Pty Ltd (Kingborough Council)

•	 King Island Ports Corporation Pty Ltd (Tasmanian Ports Corporation Pty Ltd)

•	 Metro Coaches (Tas) Pty Ltd (Metro Tasmania Pty Ltd)

•	 Newood Holdings Pty Ltd (Forestry Tasmania)

•	 Newood Energy Pty Ltd (Newood Holdings Pty Ltd)

•	 Newood Huon Pty Ltd (Newood Holdings Pty Ltd)

•	 Newood Smithton Pty Ltd (Newood Holdings Pty Ltd)

•	 RBF Property Pty Ltd (Retirement Benefits Fund Board)

•	 RBF Direct Pty Ltd (Retirement Benefits Fund Board).

•	 Schools Registration Board (Department of Education)

•	 Woolnorth Bluff Point Holdings Pty Ltd (Hydro Tasmania)

•	 Woolnorth Studland Bay Holdings Pty Ltd (Hydro Tasmania).

Foreign Controlled Subsidiaries – Year Ended 30 June 2013 (controlling entity shown in 
brackets)

For these entities the Auditor-General is not the auditor and, therefore, there is no dispensation. 
However, the financial results are audited as part of the consolidation process:

•	 Hydro Tasmania Consulting India Private Limited

•	 Hydro Tasmania South Africa (Pty) Ltd

•	 Hydro Tasmania Neusberg (Pty) Ltd.

Drainage Trusts – Year Ended 30 June 2013
•	 Egg Lagoon Drainage Trust 

•	 Elizabeth Macquarie Irrigation Trust.

•	 Forthside Irrigation Water Trust

•	 Lake Nowhere-Else Dam/Whitehawk Creek Irrigation Trust

•	 Lawrenny Irrigation Trust

•	 Mowbray Swamp Drainage Trust

•	 Richmond Irrigation Trust.

Drainage Trusts – Year Ended 30 June 2012
•	 Egg Lagoon Drainage Trust.

Other Boards and Authorities - Year Ended 30 June 2013
•	 Tasmanian Pharmacy Authority

•	 Tasmanian Timber Promotion Board.

Controlled Subsidiaries – Year Ended 31 December 2013 (controlling entity shown in brackets)
•	 UTASAT Pty Ltd (University of Tasmania).

Other Boards - Year Ended 31 December 2013
•	 Board of Architects.

Non-Trading State Entities - Year Ended 30 June 2013 (therefore no financial statements 
expected)

•	 Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation Pty Ltd.
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Categories of audits and Non-Government Organisations

The definition of State entities may encompass public bodies and Non-Government Organisations 
that traditionally are in receipt of Government grants. Agencies managing these grants are subject to 
the provisions of Treasurer’s Instruction 709 – ‘Grant Management Framework’.

Compliance with the requirements of Treasurer’s Instruction 709 should ensure appropriate reporting 
and auditing requirements are satisfied. It is our intention to keep the status quo, that is, those agencies 
dispensing the funds will be responsible for implementing and monitoring the requirements of the 
above Treasurer’s Instruction.

As a result, separate audits of these entities were not conducted by our Office and we have not 
specifically dispensed with each of these audits. 

Entities the audits of which were dispensed with in the past but where dispensation is now 
being reconsidered

As indicated in the introductory section of this Chapter, audits are dispensed with on the condition 
that the entity must demonstrate to us that its financial reporting and auditing arrangements are 
appropriate.  To satisfy this condition, the dispensed with audit entities are required to submit their 
audited financial statements to us each year. To date we have not received audited financial statements 
from the entities listed below as a result of which dispensation is being reconsidered:

•	 Brittons Swamp Drainage Trust 

•	 Brittons Swamp Water Board

•	 Togari Drainage Trust. 
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accounting and auditing standards - 
developments in financial reporting

snapshot
•	 AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement is applicable for financial reporting at 30 June 2014. It 

clarifies valuation techniques to be applied when reporting assets liabilities at fair value and 
will require additional disclosures 

•	 AASB 119 Employee Benefits is also applicable for financial reporting at 30 June 2014. It 
includes new provisions relating to the valuation of leave obligations and the valuation of 
defined benefit superannuation obligations

•	 Entities that have entered into arrangements with subsidiary or joint entities , or who are not 
sure of whether or not these arrangements apply, need to familiarise themselves with AASB 
10, 11, 12, 127 and 128

•	 Standards setters are finalising a new standard dealing with revenue but consideration on a 
new leasing standard is ongoing. 

Developments in Financial Reporting
Reporting in 2013-14 
For the 2013-14 financial reporting period, there are some significant changes to reporting 
requirements in the public sector. Two key changes arising from new and revised Australian 
Accounting Standards effective this year are in relation to the reporting of assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value and the treatment of certain employee benefits.  

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement is broader than previous requirements and applies to both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value. In general, we do not anticipate 
changes in how financial and non-financial items are measured, but disclosures in financial reports 
will need to be more extensive.  

Of the changes in AASB 119 Employee Benefits, the most significant is the change to an actual 
discount rate of return, from an expected rate. Where the actual discount rate is lower than the 
expected rate of return, there will be an increase in costs recognised in profit or loss. This will 
likely result in increased volatility in the profit or loss for entities with defined benefit obligations.  

The standard also changes the definition of short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee 
benefits not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months are required to be discounted. This 
may impact the valuation of vested leave such as annual leave for some entities, however balance 
sheet classification remains a current liability since there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the obligation.

All significant changes arising from these and other general improvements issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board for the 2013-14 reporting period will be considered for illustration in 
the Local Government model accounts prepared by us and in the Model financial statements to be 
prepared by the Department of Treasury and Finance. All State entities are encouraged to review 
the impact of these changes as they apply to them.

Reporting in 2014-15
Progressively over future reporting periods, there are a number of new accounting standards that 
will become effective for the first time. State entities are encouraged to monitor and consider 
implementation of reporting requirements over the next few reporting periods to ensure smooth 
transition.  
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Consolidations and similar transactions
The following ‘package of five’ standards issued in 2011 encompass consolidation. They introduce 
broader concepts of control and outline the accounting requirements for consolidated entities, joint 
arrangements and ‘off balance sheet’ entities:

•	 AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, which retains the focus of the control principle in 
determining whether an entity needs to consolidate another entity. The Standard revises the 
definition of ‘control’, with three key criteria including:

○○ power over the investee’s relevant activities

○○ exposure, or rights, to variable returns from an investee

○○ investor’s ability to use its power to affect the amount of investee’s returns.

The wider definition of control in AASB 10 may increase the number of entities defined as controlled 
and therefore consolidated.

•	 AASB 11 Joint Arrangements eliminates the option for joint ventures to be proportionately 
consolidated as was previously allowed under AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. The standard 
requires each party to a joint arrangement to recognise its rights and obligations arising from the 
arrangement. An assessment of the following is required:

○○ legal structure

○○ the existence of joint and several liability

○○ other facts and circumstances surrounding the arrangement.

•	 AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, which requires extensive disclosure of information 
that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, 
interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on the financial statements.

•	 AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements, which prescribes the accounting and disclosure 
requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates when an entity prepares 
separate financial statements.

•	 AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, which prescribes the accounting for 
investments in associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method 
when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures. The revision to AASB 128 
aligns with the requirements for joint ventures introduced in AASB 11.

For entities that report on a calendar year basis, the above five standards became effective from  
1 January 2014. However, for most not-for-profit entities the five standards will be applicable from the 
2014-15 reporting period onwards. Entities are urged to review/reassess the relationships they have with 
other entities and the potential reporting implications, in light of the transition requirement set out in 
the standards.

Looking Further Forward
Internationally accounting standard setters have been working on a number of important projects which 
have the potential to significantly impact financial reporting going forward. The two most significant of 
these deal with the treatment of leases and revenue recognition.

The leasing project aims to establish principles that lessees and lessors shall apply to report useful 
information to users of financial statements. The most significant of these, with the exception of lease 
terms less than 12 months, being the proposal to recognise leased assets and liabilities on the balance 
sheet. Following responses received on the revised exposure draft, this project is currently being 
redeliberated.
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The revenue recognition project is further progressed, with a new standard planned for release in 
2014.  The new standard is expected to have a significant impact on how entities recognise, record and 
disclose revenue. Some of the proposed changes include:

•	 identifying different performance obligations within a contract and accounting for the 
components differently – for example, where goods and services are sold in bundles

•	 increased use of judgement in selling price estimates where there is no observable stand-alone 
selling price or when consideration is variable

•	 allocating transaction prices to separate performance obligations by reference to relative stand-
alone selling prices instead of the residual method used under the current standard

•	 withdrawal of the percentage of completion method

•	 capitalising costs directly attributable to obtaining a contract which are expected to be 
recovered

•	 adjusting a transaction’s price for the effect of the time value of money when there is a 
significant financing component, including where the customer pays in advance

•	 applying the proposed standard to the transfer of a non-financial asset that is not an output of 
the entity’s ordinary activities

•	 more extensive disclosure requirements, such as disaggregation of revenue, reconciliations 
of contract asset and contract liability balances, information about performance obligations 
including maturity analysis. Disclosures will also include explanation of significant judgments, 
such as timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, determination of the transaction price 
and allocations to performance obligations.

Dividends received and revenues from non-contractual royalties are outside the scope of the proposed 
standard. The tentative date for application is for reporting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2017.

Entities can prepare for the impact of the new standard by:

•	 establishing a complete and accurate register of contracts 

•	 considering potential changes that may be required to revenue recognition

•	 considering whether changes need to be made to the organisation’s IT systems and recording 
and recognition of revenue transactions

•	 planning appropriate training for affected staff

•	 discussing concerns about the impact of the proposed requirements with financial advisors and/
or auditors.

Developments in Financial Auditing 
Auditors are also faced with the prospect of significant changes in future in particular to the way we 
report. Both the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board are pursuing changes to the way auditors report. While retaining the 
current basic elements of the auditor’s report, the proposed changes would require the auditor to 
report on a wider range of information specific to the particular audit and auditor.  

These changes have in part resulted as an outcome to the global financial crisis. This spurred users, in 
particular institutional investors and financial analysts, to want to know more about individual audits 
and to gain further insights into the audited entity and its financial statements.  

The new requirements, if determined as currently proposed, would result in auditors commenting on 
key or critical audit matters to help financial statement users better understand an entity and what the 
auditor found to be challenging during the course of an audit. Communicating key or critical audit 
matters would provide users with previously unknown information. Indications are that any proposed 
standard and amendments would not be effective until after December 2015.
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In anticipation of this change, our annual ‘Auditor-General’s Reports’ commenced in November 
2013 including details of risk factors taken into account in audits.

Other guidance
Superannuation Guarantee Levy
Following the 2013 Federal Budget, the Superannuation Guarantee Levy will increase progressively 
from 9 per cent to 12 per cent from 1 July 2013 to 1 July 2019. State entities should take into 
account these changes when estimating and measuring their employee benefits liabilities and 
expenses for financial reporting and in future budget estimates. The levy is being phased in as 
follows:

Date Levy 

1 July 2013 9.25%

1 July 2014 9.50%

1 July 2015 10.00%

1 July 2016 10.50%

1 July 2017 11.00%

1 July 2018 11.50%

1 July 2019 12.00%
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anzac day trust (The Trust)

SNAPSHOT
•	 The Trust had a bank balance of $0.020m at 31 December 2013, which was $0.016m higher 

than last year. This was mainly due to the payment to Legacy Tasmania approved in 2013, 
not being made until after 31 December 2013. No payments were made to Legacy clubs in 
2013. 

•	 It derived its receipts principally from Section 10 Grants. Receipts were consistent with 
2012. 

The audit was completed satisfactorily with no major items outstanding. 

INTRODUCTION
The Anzac Day Observance Act 1929 (the Act) legislates for 25 April each year to be observed as 
a public holiday, known as Anzac Day, in commemoration of serving and ex-servicemen and 
women. The Act specifies what activities may or may not occur on Anzac Day including race 
meetings, sporting events, and public entertainment activities. The Act also creates the Anzac Day 
Trust, the role of which is to promote the welfare of veterans and their dependents by providing 
financial assistance through the Anzac Day Trust Fund. In exchange for allowing sporting events, 
such as race meetings, on Anzac Day, the RSL negotiated that a portion of profits from those race 
meetings would be provided to the Fund. However it was very rare that Anzac Day race meetings 
resulted in a net profit. Because of this, the legislation was changed to allow a payment in lieu of 
the sum derived from race meetings.

The Trust’s special purpose financial statement is prepared on a cash basis, which is in accordance 
with Section 14 of the Act. 

The Responsible Minister is the Minister of Veterans’ Affairs.

AUDIT OF THE 2013 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Signed financial statements were received on 24 January 2014, in compliance with the statutory 
reporting deadline, and an unqualified audit report was issued on 11 February 2014.

The audit was completed satisfactorily with no major items outstanding. 

KEY FINDINGS, DEVELOPMENTS AND AREAS OF AUDIT 
ATTENTION
There were no major findings or developments in 2013. 



64 Anzac Day Trust

Summary of Financial Results

2013 2012
$’000s $’000s

Opening Cash Balance   4   1 

Total Receipts   23   25 
Total Payments (7) (22)
Closing Cash Balance   20   4 

The increase in the Closing Cash Balance of $0.016m was primarily due to the payment to Legacy 
Tasmania, approved in 2013, not being made until after 31 December 2013. Payments mainly comprised 
grants to Vietnam Veterans Association of Australia Tasmanian Branch, $0.003m, and National 
Serviceman’s Association of Australia, Tasmania $0.001m.
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the solicitors’ trust (The Trust)

SNAPSHOT
•	 The Trust earned interest revenue $3.015m (2012, $3.203m). 

•	 It distributed $3.671m ($2.534m) to law related entities.

•	 The Trust settled a compensation payment claim, which resulted in a decreased in provision 
for guaranteed fund claims for $1.346m to $nil.

•	 Cash balances at 31 December 2013 exceeded the prescribed balance requirements of the 
Guarantee Fund.

The audit was completed satisfactorily with no matters outstanding.

INTRODUCTION
The Trust operates within the Legal Profession Act 2007 (the Act). The Trust consists of three 
Trustees appointed by the Governor, comprising two legal practitioners nominated by the Law 
Society and a recognised accounting professional nominated by the Minister. Its function is to 
administer and manage the Solicitors Guarantee Fund (the Fund). The primary purpose of the 
Fund is to provide compensation to clients of legal firms for the loss of money or other property 
held in trust as a result of default in specified circumstances. 

The Fund is utilised for operations prescribed under the Act including operation of the Legal 
Profession Board and the Disciplinary Tribunal, compensation of claimants, administration and for 
any other purpose approved by the Minister.  

Monies deposited into the Fund include:

•	 interest earned on:

○○ statutory deposits made by legal practitioners

○○ trust accounts operated by legal practitioners and

○○ on funds held

•	 monies that remains unclaimed 12 months after the date of an annual publication by the 
Trust of an advertisement detailing unclaimed money paid by legal practitioners since the 
previous advertisement.

Statutory Deposits from funds contributed by law firms are in accordance with quarterly 
calculations prescribed by the Act. These funds are administered, but not owned or controlled 
by the Trust and are available for recall by the law firms at any time. The Statutory Deposits earn 
interest which is either deposited to the Trust’s operating account or reinvested on maturity.

The Trust invests funds in accordance with the Trustee Act 1898 and applies income arising from 
funds invested to meet operational expenses and to maintain the Fund. The Fund is currently 
required to be maintained at a minimum of $5.500m. The Trust is required to advise the Minister 
if the Fund exceeds the minimum, prescribed amount, and the Minister may then invite law 
bodies, such as the Legal Aid Commission of Tasmania, Law Foundation of Tasmania, Legal 
Profession Board or any other law related entity to make application for a grant of money from the 
surplus in the Fund. 

The Trust reports on a calendar year basis.

The Responsible Minister is the Attorney-General.
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AUDIT OF THE 31 DECEMBER 2013 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Signed financial statements were received on 14 February 2014 with amended financial statements 
received on 20 March 2014. An unqualified audit report was issued on 24 March 2014.

KEY FINDINGS AND DEVELOPMENTS
The audit was completed satisfactorily with no matters outstanding.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
Statement of Income and Expenditure

2013 2012

$’000s $’000s

Income  3 017  3 273 

Administration expenditure   128   114 
Guarantee fund expenditure   192   443 
Section 361 Distributions  3 671  2 534 

Net Surplus (Deficit) (974)   182 

Statement of Financial Position

2013 2012

$’000s $’000s

Cash  7 807  9 969 
Accounts receivable   999  1 104 
Accrued interest   440   481 
Other assets   2   3 
Total Assets  9 248  11 557 

Payables   17   21 
Provision for costs   372   357 
Provision for guarantee fund claims   0  1 346 
Total Liabilities   389  1 724 

Net Assets  8 859  9 833 

Total Equity  8 859  9 833 

In 2013, the Trust reported a Net Deficit of $0.974m (2012, surplus $0.182m). The deficit included 
$3.671m in distributions to law related bodies, including the Legal Profession Board $0.929m and 
the Legal Aid Commission $0.851m. Distributions increased by $1.137m in 2013. Excluding the 
distributions, the Trust’s Net Surplus after Administration and Guarantee fund expenditure was 
$2.697m ($2.716m).

Total Assets comprised predominantly Cash and investments, $7.807m (2012, $9.969m) and Accounts 
receivable, $0.999m ($1.104m).  Liabilities at 31 December 2013 consisted primarily of the Provision 
for costs $0.372m ($0.357m). The significant movement in the Provision for guarantee fund claims, a 
decrease of $1.346m to nil at 31 December 2013, was due to settlement of an outstanding compensation 
payment claim of $1.346m.
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At balance date the Trust administered $37.752m, (2012, $27.153m) of Statutory Deposits. This 
balance is dependent upon the level funds held in trust by legal practitioners. These funds are 
not controlled by the Trust and are not recognised as balances in the financial statements, but are 
disclosed by way of note.
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tasmanian qualifications authority 
(The Authority)

SNAPSHOT
•	 The Authority reported an excess of payments over receipts of $0.032m this year, in contrast 

to the excess receipts over payment of $0.025m in 2012.

•	 Despite the excess payments, at 31 December it had a cash balance of $0.616m.

The audit was completed satisfactorily with no issues outstanding. 

INTRODUCTION
The Authority was established under the Tasmanian Qualifications Authority Act 1985. Its functions 
include providing consolidation statements of qualifications to students, conducting and moderating 
assessments for senior secondary courses and issuing the Tasmanian Certificate of Education. The 
Authority also accredits relevant courses and registers Vocational Education and Training and non-
university higher education organisations. 

The Responsible Minister is the Minister for Education. 

AUDIT OF THE 31 DECEMBER 2013 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Signed financial statements weree received on 13 February 2014 and an unqualified audit opinion 
was issued on 24 March 2014.

KEY FINDINGS, DEVELOPMENTS AND AREAS OF AUDIT 
ATTENTION
There were no high risk findings identified during the year however we did recommend that the 
Authority consider preparing its financial statements on an accruals rather than a cash basis which it 
has agreed to do.

There were no key developments reported in 2013.

The audit was completed satisfactorily with no issues outstanding. 



69Tasmanian Qualifications Authority

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
Statement of Receipts and Payments

2013 2012

$’000s $’000s

Opening Trust Fund Balance   648   623 

Government appropriation  3 483  3 541 
Other revenue   93   97 
Total Receipts  3 576  3 638 

Employee expenses  2 558  2 441 
Other expenses  1 050  1 172 
Total Payments  3 608  3 613 

Excess of Receipts over Payments (32)   25 

Closing Trust Fund Balance   616   648 

The Authority recorded a deficit for the first time in a number of years. This was primarily due to an 
increase in Employee expenses relating to course curriculum development (an additional responsibility 
identified by the Authority which was not funded by appropriation) together with increases in pay rates 
to casual staff for setting, monitoring and marking of the external examinations for senior secondary 
courses.
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Theatre royal management board          
(The Board)

SNAPSHOT
•	 The Board recorded a Net Surplus of $0.050m in 2013, a contrast to the two previous years 

of net deficits. This can largely be attributed to an increase in ticket sales and decrease in 
Depreciation expense.

•	 As at 31 December 2013, the Board’s Net Assets totalled $1.353m with its most significant 
asset being Investments of $2.244m. Its most significant liability was advanced ticket sales of 
$1.260m.

•	 We noted that banking passwords were being shared between users. This matter has been 
reported to, and is being addressed by management.

The audit was completed satisfactorily with no outstanding issues.

INTRODUCTION
The Board was established under the Theatre Royal Management Act 1986 (the Act). Its functions  
include management of the Theatre Royal (the Theatre) as a place of theatre and performing 
arts, and to arrange for, organise and promote performing arts in the Theatre and other places in 
Tasmania. 

The Theatre employees seven full time staff, three part time staff, and a number of casual 
employees during the year.

The Responsible Minister is the Minister of the Arts.

AUDIT OF THE 2013-14 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Signed financial statements were received on 13 February 2014 and an unqualified audit report was 
issued on 17 February 2014.

Note 15 to the financial statements, Economic Dependency includes the comment that:

	 ‘The Theatre Royal Management Board’s entrepreneurial program has been assisted through 		
	 funding received from Arts Tasmania by the Minister for the Arts. The nature of this and future 	
	 entrepreneurial programs is dependent on the receipt of this funding. At the date of this report the 	
	 Board has no reason to believe that the State Government will not continue to support the Theatre 	
	 Royal Management Board.’

As a result, the financial statements were prepared on the basis that the Theatre is a going concern.

The audit was completed satisfactorily with no outstanding issues.

Key findings, developments and risks
A key finding was noted, in that EFT passwords are being shared between users. It was 
recommended that management review their delegation structure and replace it with one that 
enforces dual authorisation without the need for password sharing.

The Board created the position of Finance Manager in 2013 partly to address completing their 
financial statements internally and to mitigate the lack of segregation of duties.

The audit was completed satisfactorily with no outstanding issues.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
Statement of Comprehensive Income

2013 2012

$’000s $’000s

Program revenue   873   874 
Grants and contributions   331   308 
Donations   2   6 
Other operating revenue   737   640 
Total Revenue  1 943  1 828 

Salaries and operating expenses  1 871  1 909 
Depreciation   22   76 
Total Expenses  1 893  1 985 

Net underlying surplus/(deficit) before:   50 (157)
Transfer of Property to the Crown   0 (703)

Net Surplus/(Deficit)   50 (860)

Comprehensive Surplus/(Deficit)   50 (860)

Statement of Financial Position

2013 2012

$’000s $’000s

Cash   217   191 
Investments  2 244  1 221 
Receivables   155   136 
Other   96   100 
Total Current Assets  2 712  1 648 

Capital WIP   0   70 
Equipment   12   13 
Leasehold improvements   194   140 
Total Non-Current Assets   206   223 

Payables  1 402   417 
Provisions - employee benefits   71   65 
Total Current Liabilities  1 473   482 

Provisions - employee benefits   92   87 
Total Non-Current Liabilities   92   87 

Net Assets  1 353  1 302 

Accumulated surpluses  1 353  1 303 
Total Equity  1 353  1 303 

In 2013 the Board recorded a Net operating surplus of $0.050m, compared to a Net operating deficit of 
$0.157m in 2012. This was largely attributed to an increase in ticket sales and decrease in Depreciation 
expense.

A decrease in Depreciation of $0.054m was the result of the previous year’s Transfer of Property to the 
Crown of $0.703m, effectively lowering depreciable assets controlled by the Board.
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Equity increased by the Comprehensive Surplus of $0.050m to $1.353m at 31 December 2013.

The increase in Investments from prior year, $1.023m, was predominantly due to cash received 
in advance for shows not yet performed. This is reflected by the increase in Payables and Other 
liabilities of $0.985m, mainly represented by the increase in revenue received in advance of 
$1.008m, and partially offset by a decrease in trade payables, $0.032m.    

Statement of Cash Flows

2013 2012

$’000s $’000s

Government grants   364   307 
Receipts from customers  2 696  1 200 
Payments to suppliers and employees (2 059) (1 885)
Interest received   52   90 
Cash from Operations  1 053 (288)

Withdrawals from investments  2 135   316 
Payments for fixed assets (4) (74)
Payments for leasehold improvements   0   0 
Deposits to investments (3 158)   0 
Cash from (used in) Investing Activities (1 027)   242 

Repayment of borrowings   0   0 
Cash (used in) Financing Activities   0   0 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash   26 (46)

Cash at the beginning of the year   191   237 
Cash at end of the Year   217   191 

Financial Analysis

Bench 
Mark 2013 2012

Financial Performance

Result from operations ($'000s)   50 (157)
(before capital grant)
Operating margin* >1.0  1.03  0.92 
Underlying result ratio 2.6% (47.0%)
Self financing ratio* 54.2% (15.8%)
Own source revenue (%)* 44.9% 47.8%

Financial Management

Current ratio >1.0  1.84  3.42 

* For commentary on these indicators refer to the financial results section of this Chapter.
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university of tasmania (The University)

SNAPSHOT
•	 The University incurred an Underlying Deficit of $9.070m, 68% better than the 2012 result, and a 

comprehensive surplus of $41.391m, consistent with 2012.

•	 Commonwealth funding accounted for 66.6% of Total Revenue, inclusive of investment and capital 
revenues, in 2013. This remains above the Commonwealth benchmark of ‘not more than’ 65% reliant 
on the Commonwealth.

•	 The largest component of expenditure for 2013 was Salary related costs, $298.941m, which 
represented 59.7% of Total Expenses. These costs increased by 6.4% in 2013 despite insignificant 
change in total employee numbers. The restructure initiated in 2012 has ensured employee numbers 
have remained steady while student enrolments have grown 16% over the past two years. However,  
in the last three months of 2013, FTE declined by more than 100. 

•	 At 31 December 2013, the University’s total assets were $1.084bn and its Net Assets amounted to 
$872.155m, an increase of $41.391m from 2012.

•	 Property, plant and equipment, $665.906m, continue to represent the majority of total assets, 
comprising 61.4% at 31 December 2013.

•	 Cash, short and long term investments, $341.576m, were also significant, representing 31.5% of total 
assets at 31 December 2013.

Key developments this year included:

•	 Approval of a ten year unsecured loan of $130.000m with TASCORP for the construction of student 
accommodation under the National Rent Affordability Scheme (NRAS). The University had not 
previously had any form of borrowings. The project will be funded by rental income earned, which 
is partially funded through the Federal Government NRAS scheme and the University are making 
a $25.000m contribution.  However, because Federal funding will not be received until the projects 
are complete and until rental income is being generated, the University must fund construction in 
full resulting in the TASCORP loan.

•	 Receipt of $11.000m from the Education Investment Fund for the construction of the Academy of 
Creative Industries and Performing Arts (ACIPA) centre in Campbell Street, Hobart.  

•	 An additional $8.420m was spent on finalising the Menzies Research Institute/Health Sciences Co-
location project during 2013.

•	 Further development of the Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies (IMAS) building. An 
additional $23.917m was spent during 2013. Practical completion of this project occurred during 
November 2013, with a total commissioned cost of $44.203m.

•	 Continued development of the Technology One Student Management System (SLIMS) project. 
A further $9.738m was spent in 2013 and the total amount in work in progress at 31 December 
2013 was $20.788m. The total budget for this project is $36.900m with the expectation it will be 
commissioned in September 2014.

Major variations between the 2012 and 2013 years were:

•	 The University recorded Restructure costs of $23.250m and a provision for restructure of $16.197m 
in their financial statements in 2012. A total of 135 employees departed during 2013 requiring 
payment of $11.847m and an additional 11 employees were accrued during 2013 totalling $1.915m. 
The balance of the provision at 31 December 2013 was for 50 employees totalling $5.845m.

•	 Capital grants received were $12.631m less in 2013 primarily due to a $15.000m contribution 
received in 2012 from the state government towards the construction of Menzies 2.
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The audit was completed satisfactorily with the following issue noted. Management identified two 
agreements entered into during 2013 that were assessed as finance leases. Under the University of 
Tasmania Act 1992 (Act), the Treasurer must approve any borrowings undertaken by the University 
which had not occurred. This matter has since been resolved by pay-out of the leases and policies have 
been implemented to mitigate the risk of such transaction occurring again.

INTRODUCTION
The University is administered under the provisions of the University of Tasmania Act 1992. It relies 
predominantly on Commonwealth support for its recurring activities.

The Consolidated financial report comprises the financial statements of the University, being the parent 
entity, and entities under its control during the financial year. Controlled entities are:

•	 University of Tasmania Foundation Inc.

•	 AMC Search Limited

•	 UTASAT Pty Ltd as trustee for the University Asset Trust, which did not operate during 2013.

The Commonwealth Department of Education (EDUCATION) formerly the Department of Industry, 
Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education (DIISRTE) sets financial reporting guidelines 
that Universities must adhere to. These requirements are consistent with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the University complies with these guidelines and standards.

The University reports on a calendar year basis, hence the financial results relate to the year ended  
31 December 2013. The results reported in this Chapter relate to the University’s consolidated financial 
performance.

The Responsible Minister is the Minister for Education.

KEY AREAS OF AUDIT ATTENTION

Area of Audit Attention Impact on our Audit Approach

Restricted funds

Restricted funds are utilised for specified expenditure 
purposes only.

We reviewed and tested expenditure from restricted funds to 
ensure payments complied with approved purposes.

Long-term investment portfolio

The University and University of Tasmania 
Foundation Inc. have a long-term investment 
portfolio. 

A professional accounting firm provide advice and 
administration to assist the University in making 
investing decisions. The University manages the 
portfolio in-house.

We confirmed investments with fund managers and where 
applicable reconciled the number of units and unit prices at  
31 December.
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Area of Audit Attention Impact on our Audit Approach

Fund manager valuations

Need for independent assurance over unit fund 
manager investments at 31 December:

•	 valuation of unlisted investment funds are 
complex and may have underlying assets that 
are non – transparent

•	 valuation is based on unaudited information

•	 valuation may not be current.

Unit fund managers

We:

•	 obtained confirmation of units held and unit prices at  
31 December 2013 from fund managers for all investments

•	 obtained and reviewed the most current GS 007 report 
regarding controls over asset management, investment 
administration and unit registry services

•	 reviewed the most current audited financial report and 
audit opinion – either 30 June or 31 December

•	 re-calculated the fund’s unit price via the most current 
audited financial statement.

Internal controls

We reviewed the University’s investment policies, guidelines and 
controls to confirm there is a strong controls environment and 
process around:

•	 investment strategies and allocation decisions

•	 the assessment of risks and approach to address those risks

•	 the appointment of investment advisors, custodian and 
fund managers

•	 review of performance of the investment advisors, 
custodian and fund managers

•	 transfer of funds

•	 receipt of reports and confirmations.

Term deposits

We obtained third party confirmations. 

Direct equities

We:

•	 obtained the portfolio valuation from Kingfisher Capital 
Partners at 31 December

•	 obtained CHESS statements for a selection of equities to 
verify the number of units held

•	 verified unit prices to the Australian Stock Exchange 
(ASX) at 31 December.
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Area of Audit Attention Impact on our Audit Approach

Capital Expenditure

The University was undertaking a number of capital 
projects. Significant capital expenditure projects 
during 2013 included:

•	 	Continued development of the IMAS building 
adjacent to CSIRO on the Hobart waterfront. 
Practical completion was due on 30 November 
2013.

•	 	Finalisation of the Health Sciences  
Co-location Stage 2.

•	 	Ongoing development of the SLIMS project 
due for completion in September 2014.

We tested transactions and allocation of expenditure between 
capital and expenditure. In addition, we reviewed tender 
procedures to ensure the University complied with its 
procurement procedures.

In addition we:

•	 verified material capital expenditure

•	 verified capital work-in-progress at year end

•	 reviewed the disclosure of future commitments

•	 reviewed the status report from the SLIMS Project 
Manager and/or project reviews undertaken by Deloitte

•	 reviewed SLIMS project work in progress balance 
against budget for possible impairment 

•	 ensured the asset register correctly reflects capital 
expenditure.
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Area of Audit Attention Impact on our Audit Approach

Commonwealth Accommodation Program

The University secured funding through the NRAS 
to build 770 self-contained apartments at a cost of 
approximately $118.600m. This will comprise:

•	 Newnham Campus – budget $18.401m,  
120 units

•	 Hobart CBD – budget $75.913m, 430 units

•	 Launceston CBD (Inveresk) – budget 
$19.650m, 180 units

•	 Cradle Coast Campus – budget $4.636m,  
40 units.

Construction for the Newnham Campus in 
Launceston started during 2013. Construction in 
Melville Street Hobart is still in the design phase. 
Construction for Inveresk and Cradle Coast are in 
the planning phase. 

At 30 September 2013, when our planning was 
completed, $6.945m had been spent on these projects, 
including $2.391m of capitalised interest. The 
University have determined that the projects meet 
the definition of a qualifying asset in accordance with 
AASB 123 Borrowing Costs.

The project will be funded by the rental income, 
which is partially funded by the Federal Government. 
The University are making a $25.000m contribution 
to the project.  However, because Federal funding 
will not be received until the projects are complete 
and until rental income is being generated, the 
University will have to fund construction in full. 
As a result, the University have entered into a loan 
agreement with TASCORP, to borrow a maximum 
$130.000m in interim funding.

Borrowings are repayable over a ten year period.

The University have drawn down $93.600m and 
invested these funds into term deposits with the 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia and NAB. The 
term deposits have varying maturity dates which 
coincide with the cash outflows for each project.

We:

•	 verified material capital expenditure and  capital work-
in-progress at year end

•	 reviewed the disclosure of future commitments

•	 confirmed the balance of the loan at year end and 
allocation between current and non-current

•	 reviewed the allocation between interest capitalised and 
expensed

•	 reviewed the processes and controls over tendering for 
capital contracts.
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Area of Audit Attention Impact on our Audit Approach

Academy of Creative Industries and 
Performing Arts

The University are in the progress of constructing 
an ACIPA adjacent to Theatre Royal in Campbell 
Street, Hobart. The project is currently in its 
planning phase.

The budget for this project is $75.200m comprising 
funding from the Commonwealth $37.000m, State 
$15.300m (including an in kind donation of land, 
$3.200m) and internal funding $22.900m.

Practical completion is expected in December 2017.  

The University received Commonwealth funding of 
$11.000m during 2013.

We:

•	 reviewed the recognition and disclosure of the grant 
revenue received in advance

•	 tested any costs capitalised by 31 December 2013

•	 confirmed disclosure of commitments in the notes to 
the financial statements.

Redundancy Program

The University commenced making redundancy 
payments and charging these against the provisions 
established for this purpose at 31 December 2012.

We tested payments and their allocations in the general ledger.

Asset Management

Discussions were held in 2012 regarding potentially 
ageing building infrastructure and calculation of 
various asset sustainability ratios included in our 
report to Parliament.

Discussions with management indicated they acknowledge 
the existence of a backlog and that this will be addressed 
progressively in particular once current high capital 
expenditure programs slow down. However, infrastructure 
was fairly presented in the financial statements at  
31 December 2013.

Tasmanian University Union Incorporated

Management indicated it expects to determine 
a position regarding control of the Tasmanian 
University Union Incorporated (TUU) as defined 
by AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements during 
2014. Such determination will impact whether or 
not TUU is consolidated. Should the University 
consolidate the financial information of TUU, it will 
need to treat the change retrospectively and amend 
the 2013 comparative balances.

We will review management’s assessment during 2014.

AUDIT OF THE 2013 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial statements signed by the University Council were received on 14 February 2014 and an 
unqualified audit report was issued on the same date.

The audit of the University’s financial statements, and those of its subsidiary entities that were 
subjected to audit, were completed successfully with no matters outstanding.



79University of Tasmania

KEY FINDING
Finance Leases
Management identified two agreements entered into during 2013 that were assessed as finance 
leases. Under the University of Tasmania Act 1992 (Act), the Treasurer must approve any borrowings 
undertaken by the University. The definition of borrowings extends to include finance leases. 
Action was taken to settle these liabilities and procedures have been put in place to ensure the 
University does not breach its borrowings restrictions in future.

KEY DEVELOPMENTS 
National Rent Affordability Scheme – Borrowings 
During 2013 TASCORP approved a ten year unsecured loan of $130.000m to the University. The 
purpose of this loan is to construct student accommodation under NRAS. The University will 
construct 770 self-contained apartments at a cost of approximately $118.600m, comprising:

•	 Newnham Campus – budget $18.401m, 120 units

•	 Hobart CBD – budget $75.913m, 430 units

•	 Launceston CBD (Inveresk) – budget $19.650m, 180 units

•	 Cradle Coast Campus – budget $4.636m, 40 units.

At 31 December 2013, the University had drawn down $93.600m of this loan and spent a total 
of $14.442m on these projects. The interest incurred to 31 December 2013 was $3.937m. The 
University invested the funds drawn down into short term and long term deposits which coincide 
with the expected cash flows of each project. The funds invested earned interest of $1.966m. The 
net interest capitalised on these projects during 2013 was $1.971m.

Overdraft Facility
The University arranged for an overdraft facility of $50.000m with TASCORP for operational 
requirements, if needed. This facility was unused at 31 December 2013.

Academy of Creative Industries and Performing Arts
The University received $11.000m from the Education Investment Fund for the construction of the 
ACIPA adjacent to the Theatre Royal in Campbell Street, Hobart. The budget for this project is 
$75.200m comprising funding from the Commonwealth $37.000m, State $15.300m (including an 
in kind donation of land, $3.200m) and internal funding $22.900m. 

The project is currently in its design phase with the University having spent $0.994m to  
31 December 2013. Practical completion is expected in December 2017.

Menzies Stage 2
An additional $8.420m was spent on the Menzies Research Institute/Health Sciences Co-location 
project (referred to as Menzies stage 2) during 2013 to finalise this project. This building was 
commissioned in 2012.

Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies
Development of the IMAS building adjacent to CSIRO on the Hobart waterfront continued 
in 2013 with a further $23.917m this year. Practical completion of this project occurred during 
November 2013, with a total commissioned cost of $44.203m.
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Technology One Student Management System
Development of the SLIMS project, which has a budget of $36.900m, continued in 2013. A 
further $9.738m was spent this year and the total amount in work in progress at 31 December was 
$20.788m. This project is being closely monitored by Council.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
The underlying deficit reported by the University’s parent entity in 2013 was $4.241m  
(2012; $3.734m deficit) and was referred to in the audited financial statements as the ‘core activities’. 
This is different to the underlying deficit reported in this Chapter of $9.070m ($28.406m) due 
primarily to three factors:

•	 restructure costs, $1.915m (2012, $23.250m), and commonwealth grant scheme and HECS 
adjustments, $0.631m (2012, $2.870m), both of which we have included as ‘core’ activities in 
this Chapter and

•	 our analysis is based on the group position, not the parent (the parent is the University).

The University incurred an underlying deficit, before taxation and non-operating items, of 
$9.070m (2012, $28.406m deficit) but a Comprehensive surplus of $41.391m ($39.422m). The 
higher underlying deficit in 2012 was mainly attributable to higher restructure costs of $21.335m in 
that year.

At 31 December 2013, the University’s net assets totalled $872.155m, an increase of $41.391m on 
2012 being the Comprehensive surplus for the year. The Comprehensive surplus was $50.461m 
stronger than the underlying result due to strong investment earnings and capital grants received 
offset by a decline in restricted funds earned.

The following 10 graphs summarise key ratios highlighting important aspects of the University’s 
financial performance over the past five years. Where applicable, in each graph the benchmark is 
represented by the black line with the red line being the actual performance trend line and, where 
relevant, formulae used by EDUCATION are applied. 

Note: In this graph revenue includes capital and investment revenues

Total Revenue growth, expressed in percentage terms, was high in 2009 and 2012 when 
investment gains were particularly. The decline in 2011 was mainly due to:

•	 lower Australian Government financial assistance for capital funding

•	 lower Investment revenue due to adverse investment conditions

•	 total student enrolment growth in 2011 was low, 1.1%.

Total Revenue in 2013 was consistent with 2012, an increase of only 1.16%.
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Note: This graph includes investment gains, capital and research funding.

The University’s reliance on Commonwealth Government funding increased over the 2009 to 
2011 period but declined in 2012 and 2013 primarily due to strong investments gains and higher 
contributions from the State government in these years. 

The DIISRTE benchmark is for less than 65% reliance on the Commonwealth with the graph 
indicating the University continue to be reliant on the Commonwealth for more than 65% of 
its funding although not significantly. This high reliance exposes the University to changes in 
Commonwealth government policy.

Note: The operating margin is calculated excluding investment returns, capital revenues and movements in 

restricted revenues earned.

The Operating margin approximated the benchmark of one in 2009 and 2010 but declined slightly 
in 2011, 2012 and 2013 consistent with underlying deficits before taxation and non-operating items 
in these three years. Excluding restructure costs, the margin for 2012 would be 0.99.
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Note: the benchmark has been set at 35% due to the DIISRTE benchmark being less than 65% reliance on 

Commonwealth funding (refer to the 2nd graph above).

Own source revenue, including investment returns and State Government operating receipts, as 
a percentage of total non-capital revenue, remained relatively consistent in 2013 compared with 
2012 due primarily to strong investment returns in both years - $34.952m and 2012, $31.744m 
respectively. 

Net investment returns were predominantly from the university’s long-term investment portfolio. 
This was $3.208m more than 2012, with the return on the long-term investment portfolio being a 
strong 14.42% (2012, 13.35%). Details of these movements are shown in the following table which 
shows the make-up of investment revenue over the last five years.

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Investment revenue and income

Interest  6 617  5 247  7 331  4 820  6 054 
Dividends  10 097  10 411  18 870  9 441  7 452 
Realised gains (losses)  1 657  5 808 (10 566) (10 151)   789 
Unrealised gains (losses)  16 581  10 278 (10 300)  10 225  13 359 
Total  34 952  31 744  5 335  14 335  27 654 

The Self-financing ratio is derived from net operating cash flows divided by operating revenues. 
The decline in 2010, 2012 and 2013 was mainly due to lower Cash generated from operating 
activities in these three years. Note that operating cash flows does not include investment earnings 
as these relate to long-term investments.
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The Liquidity Ratio was above the benchmark in all five years indicating the University was able to 
meet short-term commitments. The ratio was also above the DIISRTE benchmark of ‘greater than 
one’, resulting in the University being in a low risk category for this measure. The reduction in 
2012 was primarily due to lower Cash and short-term deposits due to capital works programs and 
restructure costs. The increase in 2013 was primarily due to NRAS borrowings of $63.426m being 
held in cash and short-term deposits.

This ratio represents the University’s utilisation of its building assets. It indicates the extent to 
which buildings have been consumed as indicated by accumulated depreciation compared to the 
gross revaluation amount plus additions since the most recent revaluation. Data above the green line 
benchmark indicated a low risk rating, below the blue line a high risk rating and between the two 
lines a moderate risk rating.  

A ratio of 54% in the current year indicates that at 31 December 2013, 46% of the University’s 
buildings had been ‘consumed’. The ratio is within our benchmark of between 40% and 60% and 
is improving, mainly due to high levels of investment in new buildings during the 2010-13 period. 
Overall, at 31 December 2013, the University’s building assets had sufficient capacity to continue to 
provide services. 
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Note: the information for 2009 was unavailable.

The building sustainability ratio, which measures the University’s investment in existing buildings 
compared to depreciation on those buildings, declined to 66% in 2013, below our benchmark of 
100%. However, on average over the past four years the ratio was 121%. 

Conclusions about building sustainability and consumption need to be considered together and in 
light of the University’s capital, and on-going maintenance, programs. Details of the University’s 
repairs and maintenance expenses over the last four years are noted in the following table:

2013 2012 2011 2010

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Repairs and Maintenance

Buildings and ground  15 074  13 859  14 019  11 729 
Equipment  2 072  2 547  2 374  2 702 
Total  17 146  16 406  16 393  14 431 

Note: the information for 2009 was unavailable.

Staff numbers remained constant in 2013 with non-academic numbers increasing by only four 
FTEs and academic by six FTEs.
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Academic salary costs increased over the five year period. In 2013 the higher salary costs were due 
primarily to:

•	 EBA increment of 2.2%, effective 1 July 2013 (previously 4.0%)

•	 incremental progressions for employees within their salary classifications  

•	 higher superannuation contributions due to higher salaries.

Non-academic salary costs increased in line with the increase in FTE with the higher salary costs in 
2013 primarily caused by the same reasons as for non-academic staff.

Restructure Costs/Provision (not included in the salary 
discussions above)
The University recorded Restructure costs of $23.250m and a provision for restructure of $16.197m 
in their financial statements for the first time in 2012. 

The following is a reconciliation of the movement in the provision between 2012 and 2013:

•	 74 employees took redundancies prior to 31 December 2012

•	 174 employees were accrued at 31 December 2012 amounting to $16.197m

•	 135 employees departed during 2013 costing $11.847m which was allocated to the provision

•	 accrued internal project costs paid in 2013 were $0.420m

•	 11 new employees were accrued during 2013 amounting to $1.915m, expensed in 2013

•	 the balance of the provision at 31 December 2013 was 50 employees totalling $5.845m.

Employees departing via the formal expressions of interest program were unable to be re-employed 
for a period of 12 months from departure date either in a part-time, casual or full-time capacity. 
The University has internal controls in place to ensure human resource staff are aware of this.

Evident from this analysis is that the University’s restructure program has resulted in employee 
numbers being held constant through a period of sustained growth for the University. In the past 
two years, enrolments have increased 7% in 2012 and 9% in 2013. However, in the last three 
months of 2013, more than 100 FTE left the University under its restructure program.

The budgeted 2013 on-shore student load was 17 115 Equivalent Full-time Student Load (EFTSL) 
which included a Commonwealth supported load of 13 346 EFTSL.

Total student numbers steadily increased over the four year period. The University continues to 
target student growth and in 2013 the total on shore load of 17 251 was 136 above target.

The increase of 1 253 students (on-shore and off-shore) in 2013 or 7.3% was significantly higher 
than 2012 (increase of 697 students or 4.1%). The University is highly dependent on student 
numbers for Commonwealth funds to finance its operations.
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In 2013 the University received an additional $28.532m in Commonwealth grant scheme funding 
and HECS-HELP (Higher Education Loan Program) due to increased Commonwealth supported 
students of 1 173.

AMC SEARCH LTD (AMC SEARCH)
AMC Search is a specialised organisation, providing maritime related training and consultancy for a 
wide range of international and Australian organisations and individuals.  

Total Revenue in 2013 was $6.779m, down $1.037m on 2012, and Total Expenditure was $6.124m, 
down by $0.784m on 2012.

At 31 December 2013, Net Assets were $4.188m, down $0.084m on 2012.

AMC Search’s contribution to the University in 2013 was $0.726m (2012, $0.992m) based on 80% 
of AMC Search’s 2012 surplus.

On 5 June 2013, AMC Search entered into a service agreement with the Department of Defence 
for the provision of the pacific patrol boat training course for the next four years. A condition of the 
agreement is the holding of a $1.000m guarantee by a third party financial institution. These funds, 
while recognised on AMC Search’s balance sheet, are restricted for the period of the agreement.

The loss of the patrol boat training revenue between December 2012 and June 2013, while a new 
service agreement was negotiated, was the significant factor in AMC Search’s lower revenue and 
expenditure in 2013.

AMC Search was in a sound financial position at each balance date.

UNIVERSITY OF TASMANIA FOUNDATION INC (FOUNDATION)
The Foundation’s purpose is to generate donations and bequest income for the purpose of making 
scholarship and bursary payments to approved recipients.  

The Foundation generated operating surpluses in all four years under review. 

Its Total Revenue in 2013 was $15.798m (2012, $13.658m), which mainly comprised donations 
received, $9.157m ($8.186m), and investment revenue, $4.820m ($4.000m). In 2013, the 
Foundation received $5.436m ($5.153m) in donations for the Medical Sciences Building and 
transferred $7.863m ($4.000m) of this to the University. 

The Foundation’s other main expense was Scholarships, bursaries and other payments of $1.821m 
($1.332m) which fluctuate from year to year depending upon fund availability or decisions when to 
offer scholarships and grants.
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CHAPTER APPENDICIES
Statement of Comprehensive Income

2013 2012 2011 2010

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

State Government grants  11 568  16 110  14 078  12 946 
Commonwealth grants  290 116  278 374  262 662  235 454 
Higher Education Contributions scheme  69 574  58 367  51 480  50 092 
User charges and fees  73 052  73 926  69 395  63 344 
Other operating revenue  47 662  50 224  48 966  54 403 
Deferred Government superannuation contributions*   0   0 (356)   90 
Total Revenue  491 972  477 001  446 225  416 329 

Academic salary costs  163 475  153 527  144 178  130 933 
Non-academic salary costs  135 466  127 435  117 001  109 227 
Depreciation and amortisation  25 580  22 316  20 256  19 828 
Repairs and maintenance  17 146  16 406  16 393  14 431 
Research sub-contractors  23 983  31 810  27 378  29 341 
Scholarships and prizes  22 575  21 458  20 671  21 467 
Consultancy and advisory services  22 434  18 327  15 401  13 508 
Other operating expenses  87 509  93 659  90 896  78 022 
Restructure costs  1 915  23 250   0   0 
Deferred superannuation expense   959 (2 781) (356)   90 
Total Expenses  501 042  505 407  451 818  416 847 

Net Surplus (Deficit) Before Taxation and Non-
Operating Adjustments (9 070) (28 406) (5 593) (518)

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)   0   0   0   2 
Net Surplus (Deficit) After Taxation, Before 
Non-Operating Adjustments (9 070) (28 406) (5 593) (520)

Investment gains - including dividends and interest 
received  34 952  31 744  5 335  14 335 
Capital grants received from the State, Commonwealth 
and industry  21 750  34 381  27 202  55 832 
Current year movement in restricted funds (7 212)  3 434 (814) (5 711)
Take up of leave provision adjustments   0   0 (2 542) (4 923)
Surplus for the Year  40 420  41 153  23 588  59 013 

Gain (loss) on revaluation of land, buildings and 
leasehold improvements (163)   0 (10 082)  39 191 
Gain (loss) on revaluation of art   0   0 0   757 
Net actuarial gain (loss) from superannuation plans*  1 134 (1 731) 0   0 
Total Comprehensive Income  41 391  39 422  13 506  98 961 

* Changes to accounting for defined benefit plans, effective 1 January 2013, require actuarial gains and losses to be recognised in other 

comprehensive income. The figures for 2010 and 2011 have not been amended.
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Statement of Financial Position

2013 2012 2011 2010

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Cash and short-term investments  71 706  31 369  78 825  77 569 
Receivables  24 616  22 087  18 881  12 834 
Investments   0   0   0 (63)
Inventories   904   920   967   737 
Other  6 888  5 062  3 904  10 577 
Total Current Assets  104 114  59 438  102 577  101 654 

Payables  24 619  16 209  14 084  13 273 
Provisions  50 619  52 261  36 423  29 835 
Other  15 017  14 166  18 021  14 510 
Total Current Liabilities  90 255  82 636  68 528  57 618 

Net Working Capital  13 859 (23 198)  34 049  44 036 

Investments  253 870  227 683  198 868  211 371 
Property, plant and equipment  665 906  619 839  558 691  530 174 
Receivables  8 894  10 527  8 521  10 426 
Long-term deposits  16 000   0   0   0 
Intangibles  34 923  28 888  18 902  9 194 
Total Non-Current Assets  979 593  886 937  784 982  761 165 

Provisions  27 697  32 975  27 689  27 365 
Borrowings  93 600   0   0   0 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  121 297  32 975  27 689  27 365 

Net Assets  872 155  830 764  791 342  777 836 

Restricted Funds  138 021  138 208  123 032  99 870 
Reserves  269 232  269 395  269 395  279 477 
Retained surpluses  464 902  423 161  398 915  398 489 
Total Equity  872 155  830 764  791 342  777 836 
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Statement of Cash Flows

2013 2012 2011 2010

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

State Government grants  12 725  34 221  19 336  14 241 
Commonwealth grants and funding  351 710  317 835  311 200  285 636 
Receipts from customers  152 889  143 927  133 126  130 433 
Payments to suppliers and employees (503 094) (483 493) (438 764) (423 784)
Dividends and interest received  1 143  3 586  1 563  3 320 
Cash from Operations  15 373  16 076  26 461  9 846 

Investment earnings  13 223  9 015  22 503  10 875 
Commonwealth capital grant funding  13 073  15 381  21 702  55 832 
State capital grant funding   0  15 000  3 500   0 
Other capital funding  8 677  4 000  2 000   0 
Net proceeds on disposal from (payments for) 
investments (23 949) (12 729) (8 426) (29 031)
Payments for property, plant and equipment and 
intangibles (79 030) (95 092) (69 196) (41 077)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment  1 034  1 414   649  1 425 
Other investing cash flows (1 664) (521)  2 063  1 221 
Cash (used in) Investing Activities (68 636) (63 532) (25 205) (755)

Proceeds form borrowings  93 600   0   0   0 
Cash from Investing Activities  93 600   0   0   0 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash  40 337 (47 456)  1 256  9 091 

Cash at the beginning of the year  31 369  78 825  77 569  68 478 
Cash at End of the Year  71 706  31 369  78 825  77 569 
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Financial Analysis

Bench 
Mark 2013 2012 2011 2010

Financial Performance

Total Revenue Growth* >5 1.16% 13.44% (1.59%) 7.47%
Proportion of Total Commonwealth Govt 
Funding* <65 65.56% 64.83% 71.30% 70.17%
Result from operations before tax & non-
operating adjustments ($'000s) (9 070) (28 406) (5 593) (518)
Operating margin* >1.0  0.98  0.94  0.99  1.00 
State grants as a % of operating income 2.4% 3.4% 3.2% 3.1%
HECS as a % of operating income 14% 12% 12% 12%
Self financing ratio* 3.1% 3.4% 5.9% 2.4%
Own source revenue (%)* 28% 29% 26% 27%

Financial Management

Liquidity ratio* >1.0  3.91  2.44  4.81  4.77 
Debt collection 30 days  43  41  38  29 
Creditor turnover 30 days  50  33  30  30 

Capital Management Buildings

Building assets sustainability ratio* 100% 66% 80% 141% 196%
Building assets investment ratio >100% 507% 864% 478% 312%
Building assets Consumption ratio* >60% 54% 52% 48% 47%

Other Information 

Salaries and related expenditure as a % of 
operating income 50 - 70% 61% 59% 58% 58%
Academic staff numbers (FTEs)  1 059  1 053  1 029  1 004 
Non-academic staff numbers (FTEs)  1 351  1 347  1 343  1 253 
Total staff numbers (FTEs) (excluding casual 
staff)  2 410  2 400  2 372  2 257 
Average staff costs ($'000s)   124   117   110   106 
Average leave balance per FTE ($'000s)   23   20   19   16 

Student Numbers**

Research Higher Degree   567   566   574   607 
Domestic - HECS  13 725  12 552  11 716  11 623 
Fee Paying Domestic   314   229   187   193 
Fee Paying Overseas  2 645  2 585  2 490  2 362 
Off-shore  1 116  1 182  1 468  1 472 
Total  18 367  17 114  16 435  16 257 

* For commentary on these indicators refer to the Financial Results section of this Chapter.

** Equivalent full-time student load (EFTSL).
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AMC Search Ltd Financial Statements

2013 2012 2011 2010

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Total revenue  6 779  7 816  8 368  8 236 
Total expenses  6 124  6 908  7 129  7 107 
Net Surplus   655   908  1 239  1 129 

Total assets  5 717  5 781  5 502  5 791 
Total liabilities  1 529  1 508  1 145  1 690 
Net Assets  4 188  4 273  4 357  4 101 

Opening Total Equity  4 273  4 357  4 101  3 564 

Net surplus   655   908  1 239  1 129 
Asset revaluation reserve (14)   0 (5)   0 
Contributions to the University (726) (992) (978) (592)
Closing Total Equity  4 188  4 273  4 357  4 101 

Contributions to the University   726   992   978   592 

University of Tasmania Foundation Inc. Financial Statements

2013 2012 2011 2010

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Income Statement

Revenue

Donations and bequests income  3 721  3 033  5 092  5 806 
Donation - Medical Sciences Building Campaign  5 436  5 153  2 500   1 
Other income  1 821  1 472  1 832   531 
Investment income  4 820  4 000 (333)  1 391 
Total Revenue  15 798  13 658  9 091  7 729 

Expenditure

Scholarships, bursary and other payments  1 821  1 332  1 259  2 304 
Faculty scholarships and research   718   678   950   313 
Transfer - Medical Sciences Building Campaign  7 863  4 000  2 000   0 
Other expenses  2 220  1 807  2 023  1 701 
Total Expenditure  12 622  7 817  6 232  4 318 

Net Surplus  3 176  5 841  2 859  3 411 

Balance Sheet

Cash and Investments  42 813  39 637  33 797  30 938 

Equity  42 813  39 637  33 797  30 938 
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legal aid commission of tasmania  
(The Commission)

SNAPSHOT
•	 The Commission reported an Underlying Deficit of $1.253m in 2012-13. This was $0.581m 

higher compared to last year. 

•	 Over 90% of funding was provided by Australian and State Governments.

•	 It received $0.780m from The Solicitors’ Trust to fund various projects.

•	 Net Assets totalled $2.520m at 30 June 2013. The Commission had $2.838m in cash at that 
date.

•	 Total Equity decreased as a result of underlying deficits recorded in the past two years and 
the Commission needs to closely monitor its financial performance.

The Commission submitted its financial statements 34 days after the statutory deadline. 

We made a number of recommendations in areas of accounting for non-current assets and 
outstanding loans. Not all recommendations made in previous years were implemented. 
Management have agreed to address all these matters. 

The current funding agreement, being the National Partnership Agreement on Legal Assistance 
Services between the Australian and State Governments, will expire in 30 June 2014.

INTRODUCTION
The Commission is an independent statutory body established by the Legal Aid Commission Act 
1990. It is principally funded by the State and Australian Governments. 

The Commission seeks to increase access to justice for all Tasmanian by the provision of legal 
representation, advice, information and referral services. It ensures that within the limits of funds 
available, no person is denied access to the law by reason of financial or social disadvantage.

The responsible Minister is the Attorney-General.

AUDIT OF THE 2012-13 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Signed financial statements were received on 17 September 2013, which was 34 days after the 
statutory reporting deadline. An unqualified audit report was issued on 30 October 2013. The 
Commission is addressing the factors which led to the late submission of the financial statements. 

KEY FINDINGS, DEVELOPMENTS AND AREAS OF AUDIT 
ATTENTION
Audit findings
We made a number of recommendations relating to:

•	 accounting for non-current assets and 

•	 the need for the Commission to review annually the recoverability of all outstanding Civil 
Disbursement Fund loans. 
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We also followed-up matters reported in previous years and found that not all recommendations were 
implemented. 

Management have agreed to address all these matters. 

Financial reporting risks
Key financial reporting risks impacting the audit are the lack of segregation of duties and key personnel 
dependency. We mitigated the risk relating to limited segregations to an acceptable level by the nature 
and extent of audit testing we performed. We recommended that the Commission reviews its current 
processes in the finance area with the view to improve segregation of incompatible duties. 

In this respect it is noted that even entities that have only a few employees in their finance area may 
be able to assign responsibilities to achieve appropriate segregation or, if that is not possible, to use 
management oversight of incompatible activities to achieve control objectives.

We noted that the current National Partnership Agreement on Legal Assistance Services between the 
Australian and State Governments expires on 30 June 2014. 

SUBMISSIONS AND COMMENTS RECEIVED
A copy of this Chapter was provided to the Commission for comment and response. An extract of the 
response is provided below. The comments and submission provided are not subject to audit nor the 
evidentiary standards required in reaching an audit conclusion. Responsibility for the accuracy, fairness 
and balance of those comments rests solely with those who provided a response or comment. 

Deficits and financial performance

Your report records that LACT [Commission] reported a deficit last year and needs to closely monitor 
its financial performance. We accept the correctness of that statement and note:

•	 the deficit was part of a long-standing policy for a planned reduction of reserves;

•	 each of LACT’s budgets in recent years have been approved by the Attorney-General at the 
relevant time with the knowledge of the Department of Justice. The planned reduction of 
reserves was a closely monitored policy by management and Wise Lord and Ferguson during its 
implementation period. Without the planned reduction in reserves there would have been a lower 
capacity to meet in part the very strong demand for grants of aid during that period; 

•	 the policy of reducing reserves has achieved its goals, and has come to an end: 2013-14 will be 
the last year in which reserves can be run down; 

•	 the commitment of funds to grants is now reviewed daily, weekly, and monthly by management 
to ensure it remains within budget as a consequence of no longer being in reduction phase; and 

•	 we are currently reviewing our budget with a view to maintaining sustainable accounting and 
budgetary arrangements in a context of very low funding against strong demand for legal aid 
grants.

Recommendations of previous years

The LACT is fully committed to implementing recommendations that have come from your Office 
where practical and appropriate in small organisations.

We note: 

•	 at the last meeting where the Auditor-General, Norman Reaburn (the then Director) and the 
writer met there did not appear to be outstanding compliance or regulatory issues; 

•	 in accordance with your recommendation, we intended to move asset reporting away from the 
existing (but unsupported) ACCESS database. We intended to do this in June 2013 but the 
unexpected illness of the Finance Manager slowed this reform, which we now expect to complete 
by May 2014; 
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•	 and in accord with your recommendation for the accounting of civil disbursement loans, 
we intend to manage it, and account for it, with a combination of the Visual Files Case 
Management System and the Finance One accounting software. This is a significant project 
and substantial progress will be made on it this year.

In summary, we regard meeting our statutory obligations to present financial statements as one of 
our highest priorities.

We are also monitoring financial performance closely so that the Commission will do its best not to 
incur a deficit that is not covered by reserves and other funds. We also confirm our commitment to 
implementing all previous recommendations from the Audit Office.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
Statement of Comprehensive Income

2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Australian Government grants  7 597  7 466  7 405  7 537
State Government grants  6 070  5 962  5 810  5 446
Other revenue  1 139   405  1 171   526
Total Revenue  14 806  13 833  14 386  13 509

Legal services expense  4 865  4 258  3 614  4 213
Employee expenses  7 328  6 597  6 346  5 472
Payments to community legal centres  1 803  1 718  1 567  1 490
Other expenses  2 063  1 932  1 981  1 846
Total Expenses  16 059  14 505  13 508  13 021

Underlying Surplus (Deficit) (1 253) (672)   878   488

Other Comprehensive Income   0   0   0   0

Comprehensive Surplus (Deficit) (1 253) (672)   878   488

Statement of Financial Position

2013 2012 2011 2010

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Total  assets  4 090  5 344  5 827  4 663
Total liabilities  1 570  1 571  1 382 1 820
Net Assets  2 520  3 773  4 445  2 843

Total Equity  2 520  3 773  4 445  3 567

In 2012-13, the Commission reported an Underlying Deficit of $1.253m, which was $0.581m 
or 86.5% higher compared to last year. Total Expenses increased by 10.7% mainly due to higher 
salaries and wages and an increase in legal expenses due to:

•	 a growth in caseload, 3.5%, from 6 072 cases in 2011-12 to 6 283 cases in 2012-13

•	 annual increases in salaries for both legal practitioners and support staff in accordance with 
relevant awards

•	 regional employment subsidies and extension of regional services.
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The Commission relies on funding from Australian and State Governments for over 90% of its 
Total Revenue. In 2013-14, the Australian and State Governments contributed $7.597m and 
$6.070m respectively. Other income is derived from the recovery of legal costs in successful cases, 
contributions from legally assisted clients, interest on invested monies and distributions from the 
Solicitors’ Trust. In the current year, the Commission received $0.780m from the Solicitors’ Trust 
for various projects including regional employment subsidies, extension of regional services and 
production of community education materials.

Net Assets totalled $2.520m at 30 June 2013. The Commission had $2.838m in cash at that date. 
Total Equity decreased as a result of underlying deficits recorded in the past two years and the 
Commission needs to closely monitor its financial performance. 
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National trust of australia (Tasmania) 
(The Trust)

SNAPSHOT
•	 A qualified audit report was issued on 23 October 2013. The report also included an 

emphasis of matter paragraph.

•	 A comprehensive deficit of $0.025m was recorded for the year.

•	 The Trust experienced significant cash flow difficulties in recent years and will receive 
additional financial assistance from the State Government to address its 2013-14 budget 
deficit.

•	 We continue to recommend the Trust take appropriate action to ensure its restoration appeal 
liability is fully cash backed.

•	 For the third consecutive year, the Trust failed to comply with Section 17(1) of the Audit Act 
2008 by again submitting its financial statements after the statutory deadline.

Except for the audit qualification, emphasis of matter, failure to meet reporting deadlines and other 
findings, the audit was completed satisfactorily with no other major matters outstanding.

RECOMMENDATIONS
We recommend that:

1.	 The Trust improve its year end reporting processes to ensure it complies with statutory 
financial reporting requirements in future. 

2.	 Given the nature of the restoration appeal funds, we continue to recommend the Trust take 
appropriate action to ensure its restoration appeal liability is fully cash backed.

3.	 While asset sales and government support will generate cash in the short-term, they are not a 
long-term solution to the Trust’s cash situation and the Board needs to take action to ensure 
that it achieves a more sustainable long term solution to its cash flow difficulties. 

SUBMISSIONS AND COMMENTS RECEIVED
A copy of this Chapter was provided to the Trust for comment and response. An extract of the 
response is provided below. The comments and submission provided are not subject to audit 
nor the evidentiary standards required in reaching and audit conclusion. Responsibility for the 
accuracy, fairness and balance of those comments rests solely with those who provided a response or 
comment. 

Management responses
1.	 The National Trust acknowledges reporting mechanisms in place have lacked efficiency 

resulting in material not being available in a timely fashion to comply with statutory 
financial reporting mechanisms. The National Trust has engaged a professional external 
provider to fully review financial systems and we will be upgrading systems to automate 
reporting mechanisms, minimise duplication of data entry and reduce inefficiencies 
culminated over many years of minimal financial systems review. A policy is being 
introduced where the audit committee reports to the Board on system efficiencies/
inefficiencies on a monthly basis and the financial system will be reviewed by an external 
provider on an annual basis and provides recommendations. Changes being introduced 
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include upgrading MYOB, specific programming for system self-generation of reports and real 
time based data availability via the cloud. 

2.	 Restoration funds – the deficit in these funds has been a long standing issue for the Trust.  The 
Board has a policy to restore funds as the organisation is able.

3.	 Going concern – management and the Board have been very focussed on ensuring that the 
organisation is operated as a going concern – actions taken to not replace staff who leave the 
organisation without a review of the position have resulted in a saving of in excess of 100K FTE, 
work on developing increased revenue from operations has been undertaken and improvements 
in revenue are expected to be realised in the 2014-15 financial year.

INTRODUCTION
The Trust is administered under the National Trust Act 2006 (the Act), which came into effect on  
22 December 2006. Pursuant to the Act, the Trust’s objectives are:

•	 acquiring, promoting or ensuring the preservation and maintenance for the public benefit of 
places and objects of beauty or that have a historical, scientific, artistic, architectural or cultural 
interest

•	 encouraging and promoting, among the public, knowledge of, interest in and respect for those 
places and objects

•	 promoting or ensuring the provision and maintenance of amenities and services to facilitate the 
enjoyment by the public of those places and objects

•	 protecting and preserving the natural features of, and conserving the fauna and flora on, any place 
referred to in paragraph (a) and acquired by, or under the control of, the Trust

•	 encouraging and promoting public appreciation, knowledge and enjoyment of, respect for and 
interest in any land, buildings, works, structures or articles

•	 co-operating with the Crown or with any corporation, body or society, either within or outside 
Tasmania, having objects wholly or substantially similar to the objects of the Trust, in promoting 
the objects of the corporation, body or society or the Trust.

The Trust’s primary aim is to promote community awareness and appreciation of Tasmania’s built 
heritage. It is a member organisation of the Australian Council of National Trusts. 

The Act provides for the appointment of a board of seven directors appointed by the Minister. The 
Board includes the Trust’s Managing Director. 

The Responsible Minister is the Minister for Environment, Parks and Heritage.

AUDIT OF THE 30 JUNE 2013 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Signed financial statements were received on 27 September 2013 and a qualified audit report including 
an emphasis of matter on economic dependency was issued on 23 October 2013. The audit report 
contained the following ‘except for’ audit qualification and emphasis of matter:

	 Qualification

	 The Trust possesses certain heritage collections referred to in Note 1(j) of the financial statements, but these 	
	 assets have not been fully recognised in the financial statements. Due to the nature of the assets, it is not 		
	 possible to quantify the financial effects of the Trust’s failure to comply with Australian Accounting 		
	 Standards AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.

	 Emphasis of Matter

	 I draw attention to Note 1(b) to the financial report, which describes the Trust’s economic dependency on 	
	 the State Government for continued financial support. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY FINDINGS AND DEVELOPMENTS 
Audit findings
Submission of financial statements

Section 17(1) of the Audit Act 2008, requires financial statements to be submitted to the Auditor-
General within 45 days of the end of each financial year. For the third consecutive year, the Trust 
failed to comply with this timeframe.

The Trust will need to improve its year end reporting processes to ensure it complies with the 
requirements in future. 

Restoration provision

The Trust held current investments of $0.421m at 30 June 2013 (2011-12, $0.342m), which 
related directly to restoration appeal funds held for specific purposes which were not available to 
meet general operating costs. The Trust administers these appeal monies on behalf of individual 
restoration appeals. The shortfall between investments held and the provision for restoration appeal 
funds at 30 June 2013 was $0.095m. This represented an improvement on the shortfall recorded at 
30 June 2012 of $0.118m. 

However, given the nature of the funds, we continue to recommend the Trust take appropriate 
action to ensure the restoration appeal liability is fully cash backed.

Other findings

During the audit there where a number of other finding which included:

•	 A review of opening balances on 1 July 2012 identified discrepancies compared with prior 
year audited financial statements. Management agreed to implement processes to ensure 
balances rolled over into 2013-14 correctly reflect the 2012-13 audited financial statements.

•	 Attendance at stocktakes revealed the Trust does not maintain a record of its stock on hand. 
Management agreed to consider implementation of a stock management system.

Except for the audit qualification, emphasis of matter, failure to meet reporting deadlines and other 
findings, the audit was completed satisfactorily with no other major matters outstanding.

Developments  
Cash flow difficulties and going concern implications 

The Trust has experienced significant operating cash flow difficulties in recent years.  In 2012-13 
it recorded a net decrease in total cash of $0.091m resulting in a net overdraft position of $0.112m 
at 30 June 2013. To address this the Trust resolved to list Oak Lodge for sale. This met with 
community resistance and in January 2013 the Premier supported a statewide appeal to raise one 
million dollars to save the property. 

The Trust subsequently decided in February 2013 to delay the proposed sale for six months until 
the outcome of the appeal was apparent. The property remains unlisted for sale but is closed to the 
public.   

In October 2013, the Board received a grant from the State Government for $0.200m to meet 
operational budgetary shortfalls in 2013-14. The grant will be paid in four equal instalments. This 
has assisted in ensuring the Trust can continue as a going concern in the short-term. 

The Trust’s net assets at 30 June 2013 totalled $9.270m indicating it has no going concern problem. 
However, each of the following factors indicates the need for the Board to carefully monitor the 
Trust’s financial position:
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•	 its Net Working Capital was negative in each of the past three years

•	 operating cash flows were negative over the same period

•	 underlying deficits were incurred over the same period

•	 cash at bank declined significantly over the past four years.

While asset sales and government support will generate cash in the short-term, they are not a 
long-term solution to the Trust’s cash situation and the Board needs to take action to ensure that it 
achieves a more sustainable long-term solution to its cash flow difficulties.

Other developments
Other developments included:

•	 the appointment of a new Chair on 8 November 2012

•	 abolishment of the Trust’s Remuneration and Nomination Committee. These functions are 
now performed by the Board

•	 successfully launching the Fly Fishing Museum located at Clarendon House in May 2013.

KEY AREAS OF AUDIT ATTENTION

Area of Audit Attention Impact on our Audit Approach

Property, plant and equipment include 
heritage collections with complex valuations.

Property, plant and equipment constitute a 
significant balance in the financial statements.

We reviewed valuation reports, calculations 
and underlying assumptions supporting fair 
values of assets. 

The depreciation expense was tested and 
assessed for reasonableness.

The Trust has an investment balance that is 
highly liquid and susceptible to fraud.

We reviewed the bank reconciliation 
and investments balances at 30 June 2013 
and verified balances to external bank 
confirmations.

Lack of a sustainable funding model. We reviewed current and budgeted financial 
results and assessed likelihood that the Trust 
will meet its liabilities when they fall due.

We obtained assurances from the Board and 
State government that additional funding 
would be provided.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Abridged Balance Sheet

2013 2012 2011 2010

$’000s $’000s $’000s $’000s

Cash   74   164   215   605 

Receivables   92   105   18   71 
Inventories   65   68   68   63 
Investments   421   342   274   472 
Other assets   0   0   0   0 
Total Current Assets   652   679   575  1 211 

Payables   145   127   127   441 
Bank overdraft   186   185   0   149 
Borrowings   0   60   177   0 
Employee benefit provisions   130   103   92   83 
Restoration fund provision   319   321   370   512 
Total Current Liabilities   780   796   766  1 185 

Net Working Capital (128) (117) (191)   26 

Property, plant and equipment  9 695  9 551  9 421  5 319 
Total Non-Current Assets  9 695  9 551  9 421  5 319 

Borrowings 100 0 0 234
Employee benefit provisions 0 0 0 0
Restoration fund provision 197 139 17 75
Total Non-Current Liabilities   297   139   17   309 

Net Assets  9 270  9 295  9 213  5 036 

Accumulated surpluses  7 097  7 187  7 105  3 314 
Reserves  2 173  2 108  2 108  1 722 
Total Equity  9 270  9 295  9 213  5 036 
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ANALYSIS OF CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Financial performance and going concern

The Trust recorded Underlying Deficits in three successive years and a small Underlying Surplus 
in 2010. This indicates that the Trust’s operations are not generating sufficient revenue to meet 
operating expenditure.

In addition, we noted that:

•	 the Trust is budgeting for an Underlying Deficit of $0.097m in 2013-14, 

•	 its creditor turnover was 72 days at 30 June 2013, indicating it is having difficulties paying 
suppliers in a timely manner

•	 it reported negative Net Working Capital in each of the past three years

•	 operating cash flows were also negative in each of the past three years

•	 employee costs have risen due to a 4% increase in staff salaries and the engagement of 
temporary staff to assist on projects and prepare grant submissions

•	 The National Trust Act 2006 places restrictions on the Board’s ability to dispose of property 
vested in the Trust without the prior approval of the Attorney General.

All of these factors indicate that the Trust will in 2013-14 continue to struggle to meet its liabilities 
as they fall due. We were satisfied that the Trust can continue as a going concern in 2013-14 on the 
basis of a grant from the State Government for $0.200m to meet operational budgetary shortfalls.

Despite the above observations, we noted that the Trust’s Net Surplus (Deficit) results were 
consistently better than its Underlying Surplus (Deficits) for the period under review. This was due 
to the recognition of donated assets as well as the first time recognition of some heritage assets in 
2010-11.

Assets received 

In 2010-11 the Trust received titles to Runnymede and the Penitentiary Chapel Historical Site 
from the State Government. These properties were recognised based on the Valuer-General’s 
valuation of $3.190m less leasehold improvement costs of $0.481m previously recognised by the 
Trust when it managed both sites. These transactions were the primary reason for the strong net 
surplus in 2010-11.
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Objects register and impact on our audit report

The Trust updated its objects register and the valuation of an assortment of furniture held in a 
number of its properties in 2010-11. The valuation of these items was, in most cases, undertaken by 
an external antiques expert. The recognition of these assets resulted in a revenue item of $1.227m 
in that financial year. However, as noted earlier in this Chapter, the Trust’s audit report was 
qualified as all of its heritage assets had yet to be recognised because the objects register was not 
fully complete.

The recognition of the above mentioned properties and items recorded in the objects register also 
resulted in a $3.938m increase in Property, plant and equipment in 2011. 

Liabilities

Total Liabilities fell at 30 June 2011 due to the repayment of $0.117m of loans. The repayment was 
financed through the sale of Ellis House for $0.195m. Total Liabilities increased by $0.142m at  
30 June 2013 due to:

•	 an additional $0.040m loan taken out to fund on-going operations

•	 an increase in employee provisions of $0.027m due to changes in the award rate as at  
1 July 2012

•	 increase in the restoration fund liability of $0.047m.

Cash management

The Trust’s cash position decreased by $0.091m in the 2012-13 period. Net cash included an 
overdraft of $0.112m at 30 June 2013. Operating cash flows were in deficit for the past three years 
driven mainly by a fall in receipts from customers with $0.947m generated in 2009-10 compared 
to $0.607m in 2012-13, a drop of $0.340m. The Trust has made significant reductions in costs over 
the period under review with payments to suppliers and employees falling from $1.205m in  
2009-10 to $0.984m in 2012-13, a fall of $0.221m.

The problems with the Trust’s cash position are illustrated in the cash from operations graph above, 
which identifies negative operating cash flows, a deficit cash position and increasing debt. 
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appendix 1 - guide to using this report
This Report is prepared under section 29 of the Audit Act 2008 (the Audit Act), which requires the 
Auditor-General, on or before 31 December in each year, to report to Parliament in writing on the 
audit of State entities and audited subsidiaries of State entities in respect of the preceding financial 
year. The issue of more than one report titled the Auditor-General’s Report on the Financial Statements 
of State Entities, comprising five volumes, satisfies this requirement each year. The volumes are:

•	 Volume 1 – Executive and Legislature, Government Departments, Tasmanian Health 
Organisations, Other General Government Sector State Entities, Other State Entities and 
Superannuation Funds

•	 Volume 2 – Government Businesses, Other Public Non-Financial Corporations and Water 
Corporations

•	 Volume 3 – Local Government Authorities

•	 Volume 4 – Analysis of the Treasurer’s Annual Financial Report

•	 Volume 5 - Other State entities 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2013.

Where relevant, State entities are provided with the opportunity to comment on any of the matters 
reported. Where they choose to do so, responses are detailed within that particular section.

FORMAT OF THE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Each entity’s financial performance is analysed by discussing the Comprehensive Income Statement, 
Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows supplemented by financial analysis 
applying the indicators documented in the Financial Performance sections of this Report. The 
layout of some of these primary statements has been amended from the audited statements to, where 
appropriate:

•	 make the statements more relevant to the nature of the entity’s business

•	 highlight the entity’s working capital, which is a useful measure of liquidity.

Departments are required to present budget amounts on the face of their primary statements. As 
a consequence details and commentary in relation to these amounts have been included in this 
Report.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
The following tables illustrate the methods of calculating performance indicators used in the individual 
financial analysis sections of this Report, together with a number of benchmarks used to measure 
financial performance.

Financial Performance 
Indicator

Bench 
Mark1 Method of Calculation

Financial Performance

Earnings Before Interest and Tax 
(EBIT) ($'000s)

Result from Ordinary Activities before 
Gross Interest Expense and Tax

EBITDA ($’000s)
Result from Ordinary Activities before 

Gross Interest Expense, Tax, Depreciation 
and Amortisation

Operating margin >1.0
Operating Revenue divided by Operating 

Expenses

Operating surplus (deficit) 
($'000s)

Own source revenue percentage

Operating surplus ratio >0
Net operating surplus (deficit) divided by 

total operating revenue

Own source revenue
Total Revenue less Total Grant Revenue, 

Contributed Assets and Asset Revaluation 
Adjustments

Return on assets EBIT divided by Average Total Assets

Return on equity
Result from Ordinary Activities after 

Taxation divided by Average Total Equity

Self financing ratio
Net Operating Cash Flows divided by 

Operating Revenue

Financial Management

Asset consumption ratio
Between 40% 

and 60%

Depreciated replacement cost of asset (eg. 
infrastructure,  roads, bridges) divided by 
current replacement cost of asset

Asset renewal funding ratio 90%-100%
Future (planned) asset replacement 

expenditure divided by future asset 
replacement expenditure (actual) required 

Capital Investment Gap, Asset 
investment ratio or Investment 
gap

>100%
Payments for Property, plant and equipment 

divided by Depreciation expenses

Capital Replacement Gap, Asset 
renewal ratio or Renewal gap

100%
Payments for Property, plant and equipment 

on existing assets divided by Depreciation 
expenses

Cost of debt
Gross Interest Expense divided by Average 

Borrowings (include finance leases)
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Financial Performance 
Indicator

Bench 
Mark1 Method of Calculation

Creditor turnover 30 days
Payables divided by credit purchases 

multiplied by 365

Current ratio >1 Current Assets divided by Current Liabilities

Debt collection 30 days
Receivables divided by billable Revenue 

multiplied by 365

Debt to equity Debt divided by Total Equity

Debt to total assets Debt divided by Total Assets

Indebtedness ratio
Non-Current Liabilities divided by Own 

Source Revenue

Interest coverage ratio
Net operating cashflows less interest and 

tax payments divided by Net interest 
payments

Interest cover – EBIT >2 EBIT divided by Gross Interest Expense

Interest cover – EBITDA >2 EBITDA divided by Gross Interest Expense

Interest cover – Funds from 
Operations

>2
Cash from Operations plus Gross Interest 

Expense divided by Gross Interest 
Expense

Liquidity ratio 2:1
Liquid assets divided by current liabilities 

other than provisions

Net financial assets (liabilities)
($’000s)

Total liquid assets less financial liabilities

Net financial liabilities ratio 0 – (50%)
Liquid assets less total liabilities divided by 

total operating income

Returns to Government

CSO funding ($’000)
Amount of community service obligation 

funding received from Government

Dividend payout ratio 50%
Dividend divided by Result from Ordinary 

Activities after Tax

Dividend to equity ratio
Dividend paid or payable divided by Average 

Total Equity

Dividends paid or payable 
($'000s)

Dividends paid or payable that relate to the 
year subject to analysis

Effective tax rate 30%
Income Tax paid or payable divided by 

Result from Ordinary Activities before 
Tax

Government guarantee fees 
($’000)

Amount of guarantee fees paid to owners 
(usually Government)

Income tax paid  ($'000s)
Income Tax paid or payable that relates to 

the year subject to analysis

Total return to equity ratio Total Return divided by Average Equity
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Financial Performance 
Indicator

Bench 
Mark1 Method of Calculation

Total return to the State ($'000s) 
or total return to owners

Dividends plus Income Tax and Loan 
Guarantee fees

Other Information

Average leave per FTE ($'000s)
Total employee annual and long service 

leave entitlements divided by Staff 
Numbers

Average long service leave 
balance

Not more 
than 100 

days

Actual long service leave provision days due 
divided by average FTEs

Average recreational leave 
balance

20 days 
3
 

Actual annual leave provision days due 
divided by average FTEs

Average staff costs 
(2) 

 
($'000s)

Total employee expenses (including 
capitalised employee costs) divided by 
Staff Numbers

Employee costs 
(2)

 as a % of 
operating expenses

Total employee costs divided by Total 
Operating Expenses

Employee costs capitalised 
($'000s) 

Capitalised employee costs

Employee costs expensed 
($'000s) 

Total employee costs per Income Statement

Operating cost to rateable 
property

Operating expenses plus finance costs 
divided by rateable properties per 
valuation roll

Rates per capita
Population of council area divided by rates 

revenue

Rates per operating revenue
Total rates divided by operating revenue 

including interest income

Rates per rateable property
Total rates revenue divided by rateable 

properties per valuation rolls

Staff numbers FTEs Effective full time equivalents

1	 Benchmarks vary depending on the nature of the business being analysed. For the purposes of this Report, a single 	

              generic benchmark has been applied. 

2	 Employee costs include capitalised employee costs, where applicable, plus on-costs.

3	 May vary in some circumstances because of different award entitlement

An explanation of most financial performance indicators is provided below:

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
•	 Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) – measures how well an entity can earn a 

profit, from its operations, regardless of how it is financed (debt or equity) and before it has 
to meet external obligations such as income tax. This is a measure of how well it goes about 
its core business.
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•	 Earnings before income tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) – measures 
how well an entity can generate funds without the effects of financing (debt or equity), 
depreciation and amortisation and before it has to meet external obligations such as income 
tax. This measure is of particular relevance in cases of entities with large amounts of non-
current assets as the distortionary accounting and financing effects on the entity’s earnings 
are removed, enabling comparisons to be made across different entities and sectors.

•	 Operating margin – this ratio serves as an overall measure of operating effectiveness.

•	 Operating Surplus (Deficit) or Result from operations – summarises revenue 
transactions and expense transactions incurred in the same period of time and calculates the 
difference.

•	 Operating surplus ratio – a positive result indicates a surplus with the larger the surplus 
the stronger surplus and therefore stronger assessment of sustainability. However, too strong 
a result could disadvantage ratepayers. A negative result indicates a deficit which cannot be 
sustained in the long-term.

•	 Own source revenue – represents revenue generated by a council through its own 
operations. It excludes any external government funding, contributed assets and revaluation 
adjustments.

•	 Return on assets – measures how efficiently management used assets to earn profit. If assets 
are used efficiently, they earn profit for the entity. The harder the assets work at generating 
revenues, and thus profit, the better the potential return for the owners.

•	 Return on equity – measures the return the entity has made for the shareholders on their 
investment.

•	 Self financing ratio – this is a measure of council’s ability to fund the replacement of assets 
from cash generated from operations.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
•	 Asset consumption ratio – shows the depreciated replacement cost of an entity’s 

depreciable assets relative to their ‘as new’ (replacement) value. It therefore shows the average 
proportion of new condition left in the depreciable assets.

•	 Asset renewal funding ratio – measures the capacity to fund asset replacement 
requirements.  An inability to fund future requirements will result in revenue, expense or 
debt consequences, or a reduction in service levels. This is a most useful measure relying on 
the existence of long-term financial and asset management plans.

•	 Asset sustainability ratio – provides a comparison of the rate of spending on existing 
infrastructure, property, plant and equipment through renewing, restoring and replacing 
existing assets, with depreciation. Ratios higher than 100% indicate that spending on 
existing assets is greater than the depreciation rate. This is a long-term indicator, as capital 
expenditure can be deferred in the short-term if there are insufficient funds available from 
operations and borrowing is not an option.

•	 Capital Investment Gap, Asset investment ratio or Investment gap – indicates 
whether the entity is maintaining its physical capital by reinvesting in or renewing non-
current assets (caution should be exercised when interpreting this ratio for entities with 
significant asset balances at cost as the level of depreciation may be insufficient).

•	 Capital Replacement Gap, Asset renewal ratio or Renewal gap – indicates whether 
the entity is maintaining its physical capital by reinvesting in or renewing existing non-
current assets. (Caution should be exercised when interpreting this ratio as the amount of 
capital expenditure on existing assets has largely been provided by the respective councils 
and not subject to audit).

•	 Cost of debt – reflects the average interest rate applicable to debt.
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•	 Creditors turnover – indicates how extensively the entity utilises credit extended by 
suppliers.

•	 Current ratio – current assets should exceed current liabilities by a ‘considerable’ margin. It 
is a measure of liquidity that shows an entity’s ability to pay its short term debts.

•	 Debt collection – indicates how effectively the entity uses debt collection practices to 
ensure timely receipt of monies owed by its customers.

•	 Debt to equity – an indicator of the risk of the entity’s capital structure in terms of the 
amount sourced from borrowings and the amount from Government.

•	 Debt to total assets – an indicator of the proportion of assets that are financed through 
borrowings.

•	 Interest cover – EBIT – an indicator of the ability to meet periodic interest payments 
from current profit (before interest expense). The level of interest cover gives a guide of 
how much room there is for interest payments to be maintained in the face of interest rate 
increases or reduced profitability.

•	 Interest cover – Funds from operations – examines the exposure or risk in relation to debt, 
an indicator of the ability to meet periodic interest payments from funds from operations 
(before interest expense). The level of interest cover gives a guide of how much room there is 
for interest payments to be maintained in the face of interest rate increases or reduced funds 
from operations.

•	 Net financial liabilities ratio – indicates the extent to which net liabilities can be met 
by operating income. A falling ratio indicates that the entity’s capacity to meet its financial 
obligations from operating income is strengthening.

RETURNS TO GOVERNMENT
•	 Dividend payout ratio – the amount of dividends relative to the entity’s net income.

•	 Dividend to equity ratio – the relative size of an entity’s dividend payments to 
shareholders’ equity. A low dividend to equity ratio may indicate that profits are being 
retained by the entity to fund capital expenditure.

•	 Dividends paid or payable – payment by the entity to its shareholders (whether paid or 
declared as a payable).

•	 Effective tax rate – is the actual rate of tax paid on profits.

•	 Income tax paid – tax payments by the entity to the State in the year.

•	 Total return to equity ratio – measures the Government’s return on its investment in the 
entity.

•	 Total return to the State – the funds paid to the Owners consisting of income tax, 
dividends and guarantee fees.

OTHER INFORMATION
•	 Average leave balance per FTE ($’000s) – indicates the extent of unused leave at balance 

date.

•	 Average long service leave balance or days long service leave due – records the 
average number of days long service leave accumulated per staff member. In general public 
servants cannot accrue more than 100 days annual leave. 

•	 Average recreational leave balance or days annual leave due – records the average 
number of days annual leave accumulated per staff member. In general public service 
employees accrue 20 days annual leave per annum. 

•	 Average staff costs – measures the average cost of employing staff in the entity for the year.
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•	 Employee costs as a percentage of operating expenses - indicates the relative 
significance of employee costs compared to other operating expenses.

•	 Employee costs capitalised ($’000s) – represents employee costs that have been 
capitalised rather than expensed.

•	 Employee costs expensed ($’000s) – represents the level of employee costs expensed, ie. 
included in the Income Statement. This together with the Employee costs capitalised will 
provide a total employee cost figure for use in other related ratios.

•	 Staff numbers FTEs – as at the end of the reporting period the number of staff employed 
expressed as full-time equivalents (FTEs).

The above indicators are used because they are commonly applied to the evaluation of financial 
performance. Care should be taken in interpreting these measures, as by definition they are only 
indicators, and they should not be read in isolation.

AUDIT FINDING – RISK CATEGORIES 
In reporting audit finding to clients, we determine three risk categories. These categories are 
based on their significance and potential impact on the client. Details are provided in the Chapter: 
Findings from 2013 Audits. 
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AAS Australian Accounting Standards
AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board
ABS Australian Bureau of Statistics
ACIPA Academy of Creative Industries and Performing Arts
ACT Australian Capital Territory
AEMO Australian Energy Market Operator
AEMC Australian Energy Market Commission
AER Australian Energy Regulator
AETV Aurora Energy Tamar Valley
ANAO Australian National Audit Office
APRA Australian Prudential Regulation Authority
ASX Australian Stock Exchange
BBP Bell Bay Power Pty Ltd
BLW Ben Lomond Water
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
CLP China Light and Power
CMW Cradle Mountain Water

CPI Consumer Price Index
CPOL Cargo and Port Operational Logistics
DHHS Department of Health and Human Services
DIER Department of Infrastructure, Energy and Resources
DORC Depreciated Optimised Replacement Cost
DPAC Department of Premier and Cabinet
DPEM Department of Police and Emergency Management
DIISRTE Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary 

Education
DPIPWE Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and the Environment
EBA Enterprise Bargaining Agreement
EBIT Earnings Before Interest and Tax
EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation
EEP Environmental Energy Products
EFTSL Equivalent Full-time Student Load
EOI Expression of Interest
FCAS Frequency Control Ancillary Services
FMAA Financial Management and Audit Act 1990
FTE Full-time Equivalent
FSI Forest Services International
GBE Government Business Enterprise
GDP Gross Domestic Product
GGS General Government Sector
GMO Grantham, Mayo and Otterloo
GSP Gross State Product
GST Goods and Services Tax
GWh Gigawatt Hour
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HEC Hydro-Electric Corporation
HECS-HELP Higher Education Loan Program 
HR Human Resources
IMAS Institute of Marine and Antarctic Studies
IPSASB International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board
IRR Inter Regional Revenues
IT Information Technology
KIPC King Island Ports Corporation
KPI Key Performance Indicators
KV Kilovolt
LGAT Local Government Association of Tasmania
LSL Long Service Leave
MAIB Motor Accidents Insurance Board
MAR Maximum Allowable Revenue
MIC Member Investment Choice
MWh Megawatt Hour
NDRRA Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements
NEM National Electricity Market
NEMMCO National Electricity Market Management Company Limited
Newood Newood Holdings Pty Ltd
NRAS National Rent Affordability Scheme
NTER National Taxation Equivalent Regime
OPWG Optical Ground Wire
PA Public Account
PFC Public Financial Corporation

PNFC Public Non-Financial Corporation
PNT Pacific National Tasmania
POAGS P&O Automotive and General Stevedoring Pty Ltd
PRBF Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund
PSF Parliamentary Superannuation Fund
PWC Price WaterhouseCoopers
R40s Roaring 40s Renewable Energy Pty Ltd
RBF Retirement Benefits Fund
RBFB Retirement Benefits Fund Board
REC Renewable Energy Certificates
RFDS Royal Flying Doctor Service
ROGS Report on Government Services
SEV Soil Expectation Value
SFC State Fire Commission
SFCSS State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme
SOC State Owned Company
SDTF Special Deposits and Trust Fund
SLIMS Technology One Student Management System
SW Southern Water
SPA Superannuation Provision Account
SPFR Specific Purpose Financial Reports
TAFR Treasurer’s Annual Financial Report
TAS Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme
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Tascorp Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation
Tasracing Tasracing Pty Ltd
TASSS Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme
TasWater Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation Pty Ltd
TCFA Tasmanian Community Forest Agreement
TDRA Temporary Debt Repayment Account
TFIA Tasmanian Forest Intergovernmental Agreement
TFS Tasmanian Fire Service
TIDB Tasmanian Irrigation Development Board Pty Ltd
TIPL Tasmanian Irrigation Pty Ltd
TRB Tasmanian Racing Board
TVPS Tamar Valley Power Station
TWSC Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation
TUU Tasmanian University Union Incorporated
UPF Uniform Presentation Framework
VaR Value at Risk
WACC Weighted Average Cost of Capital
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TABLED No. TITLE

2012

November No 3 of 2012-13 Volume 3 - Government Business Enterprises, State Owned Companies 
and Water Corporations 2011-12

November No 4 of 2012-13 Volume 4 - Local Government Authorities 2011-12

November No 5 of 2012-13 Volume 1 - Analysis of the Treasurer’s Annual Financial Report 2011-12

November No 6 of 2012-13 Volume 2 - Executive Legislature, Government Departments, other 
General Government Sector State entities and Superannuation Funds 
2011-12

December No 7 of 2012-13 Compliance with the Tasmanian Adult Literacy Plan 2010-15

2013

March No 8 of 2012-13 National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness

March No 9 of 2012-13 Royal Derwent Hospital: site sale

May No 10 of 2012-13 Hospital bed management and primary preventative health

May No. 11 of 2012-13 Financial Statements of State entities: Volume 5 - Other State entities

May No. 11 of 2012-13 Department of Health and Human Services - Output based expenditure 
(included in Financial Statements of State entities: Volume 5 - Other 
State entities)

August No. 1 of 2013-14 Fraud control in local government

November No. 2 of 2013-14 Volume 1 - Executive and Legislature, Government Departments, 
Tasmanian Health Organisations, Other General Government Sector 
State entities, Other State entities and Superannuation Funds

November No. 3 of 2013-14 Volume 2 - Government Businesses, Other Public Non-Financial 
Corporations and Water Corporations

December No. 4 of 2013-14 Volume 3 - Local Government Authorities 

December No. 5 of 2013-14 Infrastructure Financial Accounting in Local Government

2014

January No. 6 of 2013-14 Redevelopment of the Royal Hobart Hospital: governance and project 
management

February No. 7 of 2013-14 Police responses to serious crime

February No. 8 of 2014-14 Volume 4 - Analysis of the Treasurer’s Annual Finncial Report 2012-13

Auditor-General’s reports are available from the Tasmanian Audit Office. These and other 
published reports can be accessed via the Office’s homepage: www.audit.tas.gov.au



Level 4, Executive Building, 15 Murray Street, Hobart, Tasmania, 7000
Postal Address GPO Box 851, Hobart, Tasmania, 7001

Phone: 03 6226 0100  |  Fax: 03 6226 0199
Email: admin@audit.tas.gov.au

Web: www.audit.tas.gov.au

To provide independent assurance to the Parliament and Community on the performance and accountability of the Tasmanian Public sector.
Professionalism | Respect | Camaraderie | Continuous Improvement | Customer Focus

Strive | Lead | Excel | To Make a Difference

Vision and Purpose

Our Vision

STRIVE | LEAD | EXCEL | TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE

Our Purpose

To provide independent assurance to the Parliament and Community on the  
performance and accountability of the Tasmanian Public sector

Availability of reports

Auditor-General’s reports are available from the Tasmanian Audit Office, Hobart. This report and 
other recent reports published by the Office can be accessed via the Office’s home page. For 
further information please contact the Office.

© Crown in Right of the State of Tasmania May 2014



Audit Mandate and Standards Applied

Mandate

Section 17(1) of the Audit Act 2008 states that:

‘An accountable authority other than the Auditor-General, as soon as possible and within 
45 days after the end of each financial year, is to prepare and forward to the Auditor-
General a copy of the financial statements for that financial year which are complete in 
all material respects.’

Under the provisions of section 18, the Auditor-General:

‘(1)	 is to audit the financial statements and any other information submitted by a State entity 
or an audited subsidiary of a State entity under section 17(1).’

Under the provisions of section 19, the Auditor-General:

‘(1)	 is to prepare and sign an opinion on an audit carried out under section 18(1) in accordance 
with requirements determined by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards

(2) 	 is to provide the opinion prepared and signed under subsection (1), and any formal 
communication of audit findings that is required to be prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, to the State entity’s appropriate Minister 
and provide a copy to the relevant accountable authority.’

Standards Applied

Section 31 specifies that:

‘The Auditor-General is to perform the audits required by this or any other Act in such a manner 
as the Auditor-General thinks fit having regard to –

(a)	 the character and effectiveness of the internal control and internal audit of the relevant 
State entity or audited subsidiary of a State entity; 

(b)	 the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.’

The auditing standards referred to are Australian Auditing Standards as issued by the Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.



Photo courtesy of Tourism Tasmania and Garry Moore

Phone	 (03) 6226 0100
Fax	 (03) 6226 0199
email	 admin@audit.tas.gov.au
Web	 www.audit.tas.gov.au

Address		��  Level 4, Executive Building 
15 Murray Street, Hobart

Postal Address	 GPO Box 851, Hobart 7001
Office Hours	 9am to 5pm Monday to Friday

Launceston Office
Phone	 (03) 6336 2503
Fax	 (03) 6336 2908

Address		  2nd Floor, Henty House
		  1 Civic Square, Launceston


